

Rolnik, Daniel Lorber (2018) *Prediction of preeclampsia and its prevention with aspirin.* Doctoral thesis (PhD), Manchester Metropolitan University.

Downloaded from: http://e-space.mmu.ac.uk/621256/

Usage rights: Creative Commons: Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 4.0

Please cite the published version

https://e-space.mmu.ac.uk

PREDICTION OF PREECLAMPSIA AND ITS PREVENTION WITH ASPIRIN

D L ROLNIK

PhD 2018

PREDICTION OF PREECLAMPSIA AND ITS PREVENTION WITH ASPIRIN

DANIEL LORBER ROLNIK

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Manchester Metropolitan University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Nursing

Faculty of Health, Psychology and Social Care

The Manchester Metropolitan University

July 2018

ABSTRACT

Background: Preeclampsia (PE) affects 2-3% of all pregnancies and is a major cause of maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality. The current approach to screening for PE is based on the identification of risk factors from maternal characteristics and medical history. This approach, however, fails to identify a high proportion of cases of PE and does not provide individualised, patient-specific results. An alternative approach is to combine maternal factors with biophysical and biochemical markers to estimate the individual probability of developing PE with higher detection rates. To date, no intervention is proven to reduce the risk of the disease, and several studies evaluating the use of aspirin for prevention of PE led to inconclusive results.

Objectives: The aims of the studies included in this thesis are, first, to prospectively validate in a large European population a first-trimester algorithm for prediction of PE that combines maternal demographic characteristics and medical history with biophysical and biochemical markers; second, to compare this method of screening to the performance of currently used guidelines; third, to evaluate a possible beneficial effect of aspirin initiated at 11 to 14 weeks of gestation and at a dose of 150 mg in the prevention of PE in a multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled randomised trial; and fourth, to analyse a potential role of cell-free DNA testing in the prediction of PE.

Methods: Combined screening for PE was applied in the first or second trimester, and women found to be at high-risk in the first trimester were offered participation in a double-blind trial of aspirin against placebo in six European countries. We have recorded maternal characteristics and history, measured the uterine artery pulsatility index (UtPI) on ultrasound, the mean arterial pressure (MAP), serum concentration of pregnancy-associated plasma protein A (PAPP-A) and placental growth factor (PLGF). Pregnancy outcomes were obtained from the hospital maternity records. Bayes theorem was used to combine the *a priori* risk from maternal factors with the results of biomarker measurements and estimate individual probabilities. In the randomised trial, the analysis was performed in an intention-to-treat basis and the treatment effect on the primary outcome (the development of PE with delivery before 37 weeks of gestation) was reported with 95% confidence interval (CI), and on

secondary outcomes with 99% CI. Cell-free DNA fetal fraction was compared with other first trimester markers for PE and in a case-control study.

Results: Detection rates of combined screening, for a false-positive rate (FPR) of 10%, were 89% (95% CI 79-96%), 75% (95% CI 70-80%) and 47% (95% CI 44-51%) for PE <32 weeks, preterm PE and term disease, respectively. The performance of combined screening was superior to methods based on risk factors alone, both in the first and second trimesters. The use of aspirin by high-risk women reduced the incidence of preterm PE by 62% (adjusted odds ratio 0.38, 95% CI 0.20-0.74). Secondary analyses have shown that the effect of aspirin was influenced by the level of compliance to treatment and was consistent in different subgroups according to maternal characteristics and obstetric history, but there was no evidence of beneficial effect of aspirin in women with chronic hypertension. Aspirin reduces the length of stay in NICU and costs through a reduction in premature births before 32 weeks due to PE. Fetal fraction on cell-free DNA testing correlates with other first trimester markers, but its role in screening for PE is uncertain.

Conclusions: This thesis has demonstrated that combined screening for PE is superior to current guidelines based on maternal characteristics and history alone, and that aspirin, at a daily dose of 150 mg and given to high-risk patients from 11 to 14 weeks until 36 weeks of gestation, reduces the incidence preterm PE and the length of stay in NICU. The effect of the medication depends on good adherence to treatment and is questionable in patients with chronic hypertension.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to my supervisor, Professor Caroline Haigh, for her guidance and support during the writing of this thesis. I have been honoured to learn from her and to promptly receive advice whenever I needed.

I would like to thank Professor Kypros Nicolaides, for his guidance over the last four years. I will be forever grateful to him for giving me the opportunity to work at the most renowned Fetal Medicine Centre in the World under his inspirational approach to training and research in Fetal Medicine.

Most of the studies included in this thesis derive from the work performed at the Harris Birthright Research Centre for Fetal Medicine, King's College Hospital, where I was a research fellow in Fetal Medicine for three years. It would not have been possible to complete these studies and this thesis without the help and hard work from all research fellows, midwives, consultant obstetricians and Fetal Medicine specialists from all the hospitals involved in the ASPRE study. In particular, I need to mention Dr Liona Poon and Dr Argyro Syngelaki, whose input and advice were key to the completion of this work. I also want to thank Professor David Wright, for his patience, hard work and guidance in all statistical aspects of our studies.

I would like to thank Dr Neil O'Gorman, my friend in joyful and in difficult moments, whom I worked with very closely during my time at King's College Hospital, for all his kindness, friendship and support. After so many hours spent together and delivering my son, Neil has become part of my family.

I would also like to thank my colleagues for the warm welcome to Australia, where some of the studies included or cited in this thesis were conducted. In particular, my friends Fabricio Costa and Andrew McLennan, whose guidance was essential. Similarly, I cannot forget so many friends from my home Country, Brazil, where preeclampsia is a significant burden mainly among unprivileged populations. Especially, Dr Fernanda Cristina Ferreira Mikami who, despite the physical distance, has always been kind and supportive.

This thesis is dedicated to Adriana, my wife, and André, my son. Without the constant support, encouragement and love, I would have never finished this work. Adriana's help and support gave me strength in difficult moments, and her knowledge about clinical trials made my difficult task considerably less complicated. They are a constant stimulus to be a better person. Thank you.

I would like to thank my parents, José and Faride, and my brothers, Ariel and Natan, for their continuous support. I miss you, and I love you.

And above all, I am enormously grateful to all the women who took part in the studies in which I was involved. They are the reason behind all this effort.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACOG:	American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists
-------	---

ART: Assisted reproduction technologies

ASPRE: Combined multi-marker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention trial

AT1-AA:	Angiotensin II type 1-Receptor Autoantibody
BCE:	Before the current era
BMI:	Body mass index
BP:	Blood pressure
CCTU-UCL:	Comprehensive Clinical Trials Unit, University College London
CI:	Confidence interval
CLASP:	Collaborative Low-dose Aspirin Study in Pregnancy
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DR:	Detection rate
FGR:	Fetal growth restriction
FMF:	Fetal Medicine Foundation
FPR:	False-positive rate
GBP or £:	British pound
GH:	Gestational hypertension
HLA:	Human leukocyte antigen
ISSHP:	International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy
IVF:	In vitro fertilisation
kg:	Kilograms
m:	Metres
MAP:	Mean arterial pressure
mg:	Milligrams
MHC:	Major histocompatibility complex
mmHg:	Millimetres of mercury
mmol:	Millimole

MoM:	Multiples of the median
NICE:	National Institute for health and Clinical Excellence
NK:	Natural killer cells
NNT:	Number needed to treat
OR:	Odds ratio
PAPP-A:	Pregnancy-associated plasma protein A
PARIS:	Perinatal Antiplatelet Review of International Studies
PE:	Preeclampsia
PIH:	Pregnancy-induced hypertension (same as GH)
PLGF:	Placental growth factor
sFLT-1:	Soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1
SPREE:	Screening Program for Preeclampsia study
TNF-α:	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
UK:	United Kingdom
US\$:	American Dollars
USA:	United States of America
UtPI:	Uterine artery pulsatility index
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
µm:	Micrometres

Contents

AB	STRACT	1	
AC	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
AB	ABBREVIATIONS		
LIS	ST OF FIGURES	7	
1.	INTRODUCTION	8	
	1.1. OVERVIEW	9	
	1.2. DEFINITION OF PREECLAMPSIA	11	
	1.3. Future cardiovascular risk	13	
	1.4. PATHOGENESIS OF PREECLAMPSIA – MECHANISM OF DISEASE	13	
	1.4.1. Placental factors	14	
	1.4.2. Immunologic and genetic factors	16	
	1.4.3. Endothelial dysfunction	18	
	1.5. SCREENING FOR PREECLAMPSIA	20	
	1.5.1. Maternal risk factors	20	
	1.5.2. Current guidelines	22	
	1.5.3. Biomarkers	23	
	1.5.3.1. Biophysical markers	24	
	1.5.3.2. Biochemical markers	26	
	1.5.5. Inversion of the pyramid of prenatal care	27	
	1.5.6. Combined screening	28	
	1.6. PREVENTION OF PREECLAMPSIA WITH ASPIRIN	29	
	1.6.1. First reports	30	
	1.6.2. Mechanism of action of aspirin	31	
	1.6.3. Randomised trials	31	
_	1.6.4. Meta-analyses	32	
2.		34	
3.		38	
4.	MULTICENTRE DOUBLE-BLIND PLACEBO-CONTROLLED TRIAL WITH ASPIRIN - TH	E 42	
A3 5		42	
5.		40	
	5.1. PERFORMANCE OF COMBINED SCREENING DURING THE ASPICE TRIAL	47	
•	3.2. INCIDENCE OF PRETERM PREECLAMPSIA IN PATIENTS FOLFILLING ACOO AND NICE CRITERIA	10	
	5.3 INELLIENCE OF ADHERENCE TO TREATMENT ON THE EFFECT OF ASPIRIN IN THE PREVENTION OF	49	
, 	PRETERM PREECI AMPSIA	51	
	5.4. SUBGROUP ANALYSES ACCORDING TO MATERNAL CHARACTERISTICS AND MEDICAL HISTORY	53	
	5.5. FEEECT OF ASPIRIN ON THE LENGTH OF STAY IN THE NEONATAL INTENSIVE CARE LINIT	55	
6	ARGUMENTS AGAINST UNIVERSAL PROPHYLAXIS WITH ASPIRIN	58	
7	CELL-EREE DNA IN SCREENING FOR PREECLAMPSIA	50	
8	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	64	
0.	8 1 CUNICAL IMPLEMENTATION OF SCREENING AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR CUNICAL PRACTICE	65	
	8.2. FUTURE STUDIES.		
	8.3. FINAL CONSIDERATIONS		
RF	FERENCES		
AP			
	A. AIMS. STUDIES AND ARTICLES CHARACTERISTICS		
	B. MY CONTRIBUTION FOR EACH PUBLICATION AND RDPUB FORMS	88	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 – Arterial blood supply to the uterus from the uterine and ovarian arteries, giving origin to the arcuate artery, the radial arteries and the spiral arteries in the myometrium and the endometrium; taken from Robertson (1976).

Figure 2 – Differences in diameter of the spiral arteries in non-pregnant women (left), in normal pregnancies after the remodelling of these vessels (right) and in pregnancies affected by PE (centre); adapted from Moffett-King (2002).

Figure 3 – A summary of the pathogenesis of preeclampsia; taken from Powe et al. (2011).

Figure 4 – (a) Normal uterine artery blood flow Doppler waveform, with an abundance of end-diastolic flow (arrow); (b) waveform characteristic of high-resistance blood flow, with a steeper systolic upslope when compared to the normal waveform, with an early diastolic notch (yellow arrow) and reduced end-diastolic flow velocity (courtesy of Prof Kypros Nicolaides, Fetal Medicine Foundation, UK).

Figure 5 – Left: the traditional model of prenatal care established in 1929; Right: the inverted pyramid of antenatal care with screening for pregnancy complications at 12 weeks and stratification of care after the first visit; taken from Nicolaides (2011).

1. Introduction

1.1. Overview

The first description of eclampsia, Greek word that means lightning, comes from ancient times, between the 5th and 4th centuries before the current era (BCE), when Hippocrates used the theory of imbalances in the four humours of the body (blood, phlegm, yellow bile, and black bile) to describe the cause of illness and disease (Bell, 2010). In 1739, François Boissier de Sauvages de Lacroix, a French physician and botanist, differentiated for the first time what is now known as epilepsy from the condition that causes convulsions in pregnancy, calling it *eclampsia parturientum* (Chesley, 1984). The finding that these seizures were accompanied by proteinuria came to light in 1840, shortly followed by recordings of high blood pressure (BP). The term preeclampsia (PE) was coined in 1894, describing the occurrence of hypertension and proteinuria in pregnancy, without eclamptic seizures (Chesley, 1984).

PE is a serious complication that typically affects 2-3% of the pregnancies and remains one of the leading causes of maternal and perinatal morbidity and mortality (Duley, 2009). Over half a million women die each year due to preeclampsia-related causes, and more than 99% of these deaths occur in developing countries (Koonin *et al.*, 1997; World Health Organization, 2005). The economic burden of the disease is a major public health issue in most countries. In the United States of America (USA), preeclampsia accounts for 18% of all maternal deaths and 15% of all premature births (Koonin *et al.*, 1997; Kuklina *et al.*, 2009). The cost of the disease in the first 12 months has been estimated at US\$ 2.18 billion, and is disproportionally borne by premature births (Stevens *et al.*, 2017).

The disease is characterised by elevated BP and involvement of the kidneys with increased levels of protein in the urine (proteinuria) after 20 weeks of gestational age. Complications of PE include symptoms, signs and laboratory manifestations of maternal organ dysfunction, involving: the kidneys, with increased serum creatinine concentration; the liver, with elevated transaminases; the haematological system, with haemolysis and low platelet count; and neurological complications, including hyperreflexia, headache, visual disturbance, reduction of the visual sight, seizures

(eclampsia) and stroke, which constitutes the main cause of maternal mortality (Crovetto *et al.*, 2013).

A recent large meta-analysis has also confirmed that the occurrence of PE significantly increases the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes in the long-term. There is a four-fold increase in the risk of heart failure and a two-fold increase in coronary heart disease, cardiovascular disease-related death and stroke in women who experienced PE compared to those who did not (Wu *et al.*, 2017).

The aetiology of PE is still unclear. Previous studies have shown that abnormal development of the placenta is implicated, with an impaired trophoblastic invasion of the spiral arteries (Khong *et al.*, 1986; Robertson *et al.*, 1986; Lyall, 2002). In healthy pregnancies, the muscular layer of these arteries, mainly in their myometrial portion, is remodelled to increase their diameter and capacitance, thus reducing the resistance to blood flow (Hamilton and Boyd, 1960; Brosens *et al.*, 1967). Due to unknown reasons, this process does not seem to happen in full in pregnancies affected by PE, leading to increased vascular resistance. This triggers the release of placental and endothelial substances with an imbalance in angiogenic factors (such as placental growth factor – PLGF – and vascular endothelial growth factor – VEGF) and anti-angiogenic factors (such as soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 – sFLT-1) that ultimately lead to increased BP, endothelial dysfunction and kidney injury (Robertson *et al.*, 1967).

Different entities have proposed various methods to identify women at high risk for the development of PE, mostly based on maternal characteristics (such as age and body mass index - BMI) and medical history. Frequently used guidelines are the ones suggested by the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) in the USA and by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) in the United Kingdom (UK) (Visintin *et al.*, 2010; American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2013; American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2015). Nevertheless, these recommendations are primarily based on experts' opinion and were rarely tested prospectively. Hence, their clinical performances are unknown.

In the last few decades, authors have proposed an alternative Bayesian approach for individual-risk calculation based on logistic regression and competing risk models that combine maternal characteristics and history with biophysical and biochemical markers shown to be different in women with PE in pre-clinical stages when compared to those that have an uncomplicated pregnancy, with higher reported predictive accuracy (Onwudiwe *et al.*, 2008; Poon *et al.*, 2009a; Odibo *et al.*, 2015; Gabbay-Benziv *et al.*, 2016; O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b). The most widely employed of these models are the ones published by the Fetal Medicine Foundation (FMF), from the UK (Poon *et al.*, 2009a; O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b). These models, however, have been criticised due to the lack of studies of prospective external validation (Oliveira *et al.*, 2014; Brunelli and Prefumo, 2015).

As of prevention of PE in women at high risk, several pharmacological and non-pharmacological measures have been studied. The vast majority of the studies evaluated a possible beneficial effect of antiplatelet agents in the prevention of PE, commonly low-dose aspirin (Beaufils *et al.*, 1985; CLASP Collaborative Group, 1994; Askie *et al.*, 2007; Bujold *et al.*, 2010; Roberge *et al.*, 2012a; Roberge *et al.*, 2012b; Bujold *et al.*, 2014; Meher *et al.*, 2017). However, their results are controversial, possibly due to heterogeneous methodologies applied regarding the method for identification of a high-risk population, different doses of aspirin prescribed and initiation of pharmacological prophylaxis at different gestational ages. Recent evidence suggests that aspirin is only beneficial in reducing the incidence of preterm and early-onset PE (but not term PE) and if started before 16 weeks of gestation at doses higher than 100 mg (Roberge *et al.*, 2012a; Roberge *et al.*, 2013a; Roberge *et al.*, 2014; Roberge *et al.*, 2017b).

1.2. Definition of preeclampsia

Preeclampsia is traditionally defined as the presence of hypertension and proteinuria in a previously normotensive woman, after 20 weeks of gestational age.

Several diagnostic criteria have been proposed in the last few decades, but a widely accepted definition is the one published by the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP) (Davey and MacGillivray, 1988; Brown *et al.*, 2001). According to the ISSHP, preeclampsia is defined by increased blood pressure with systolic measurement \geq 140 mmHg and/or diastolic measurement \geq 90

mmHg on at least two occasions, four hours apart and after 20 weeks of gestational age, accompanied by proteinuria \geq 300 mg in 24 hours or two positive dipstick analyses of at least ++ of protein on midstream or catheter urine samples, in the absence of a 24-hour collection. More recently, a spot urine protein/creatinine ratio \geq 30 mg per mmol was also added to the diagnostic criteria (Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014).

The occurrence of hypertension after 20 weeks of gestation without significant proteinuria or other signs of PE is classified as pregnancy-induced or gestational hypertension (PIH or GH). Other differential diagnoses include chronic or essential hypertension, usually manifested before 20 weeks of gestation, or white-coat hypertension (Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014).

Since hypertension is a necessary finding in PE, monitoring BP during antenatal care is fundamental. The use of validated automated devices following a standardised technique has been recommended (Poon *et al.*, 2012).

Recent definitions of PE have been used, and recent publications have disregarded the need for significant proteinuria, including amongst the diagnostic criteria any clinical or laboratory sign of end-organ damage, such as elevated liver enzymes, impaired renal function, neurological symptoms or fetal growth restriction (FGR) (Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014). The proponents of this classification, however, acknowledge that the inclusion of proteinuria would ensure more specificity around the diagnosis when reporting clinical criteria for patients enrolled in scientific research (Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014). For this research, the ISSHP classification and diagnostic criteria, including the need for proteinuria to be present, were chosen, as they represent a consensus of an appropriate and specific definition for use in research (Brown *et al.*, 2001; Tranquilli *et al.*, 2014).

The contradictory findings of the literature regarding the accuracy of prediction and effectiveness of prevention of PE may be, to some extent, due to different definitions of PE used in various studies. An individual-patient data meta-analysis evaluating the use of anti-platelet agents for the prevention of PE, for example, found a very modest effect of aspirin in the prevention of PE but included 31 studies that comprised 14 different definitions of the disease (Askie *et al.*, 2007).

1.3. Future cardiovascular risk

Although signs and symptoms of PE usually resolve after delivery, its occurrence impacts significantly on future maternal cardiovascular health. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis including over six million pregnancies and more than 258,000 cases of PE found a four-fold increase in the risk of heart failure and a two-fold increase in coronary heart disease, stroke and cardiovascular-related death among women who experienced PE compared to those who did not (Wu *et al.*, 2017). These risks seem to be closely related to the severity and earlier gestational age at the onset of the disease (Cirillo and Cohn, 2015; Christensen *et al.*, 2017).

It is unknown whether preeclampsia is the cause, predisposing women to cardiovascular complications in the future, or the consequence, being an early clinical manifestation of a suboptimal cardiovascular performance triggered by pregnancy. Nonetheless, pregnancy possibly constitutes a good window of opportunity to identify women at high-risk for cardiovascular disease. It would be reasonable to assume that preventing the onset of preeclampsia would impact in the cardiovascular profile later in life. Some authors even argue that the cardiovascular system may be the cause behind PE, mainly in late-onset forms of the disease, triggering placental hypoperfusion and the release of placental and endothelial mediators (Kalafat and Thilaganathan, 2017).

1.4. Pathogenesis of preeclampsia – mechanism of disease

Although the exact mechanism of disease remains uncertain, the pathogenesis of PE is thought to occur in two different stages: a symptomless placental phase in which an abnormal trophoblastic invasion occurs between eight and 18 weeks of gestation, followed by an abnormal maternal vascular response that results in the release of inflammatory mediators (reason why the condition used to be called toxaemia), endothelial injury and dysfunction, eventually resulting in clinical manifestations including hypertension, proteinuria and oedema.

1.4.1. Placental factors

In humans, placentation involves remodelling of the maternal blood vessels to provide the fetus with sufficient nutrients from the mother's blood supply. PE is thought to be caused by an impaired trophoblastic invasion of the spiral arteries, which are branches of the arcuate artery and ultimately of the uterine artery within the uterine wall (Figure 1).



Figure 1 – Arterial blood supply to the uterus from the uterine and ovarian arteries, giving origin to the arcuate artery, the radial arteries and the spiral arteries in the myometrium and the endometrium; taken from Robertson (1976).

The human placenta originates from cells denominated trophoblasts, which are subdivided into syncytiotrophoblasts and cytotrophoblasts. Approximately 11 to 12 days after conception, the syncytiotrophoblasts infiltrate in the endothelium of the maternal capillaries to establish the uteroplacental circulation, under the influence of angiogenic growth factors, including VEGF and PLGF. About four to six weeks postconception, the cytotrophoblasts disrupt the maternal vascular integrity by invading the spiral arteries. This process leads to remodelling of the spiral arteries through the destruction of the media layer muscular and elastic fibres, in a process known as trophoblastic invasion, which is thought to take place in two different stages of pregnancy: one initial wave of trophoblastic invasion, at approximately eight weeks of gestation and involving the decidual portion of the spiral arteries; and a second wave at the myometrial portion of the spiral arteries at 14 to 24 weeks of pregnancy (Redman, 1992; Lyall, 2002). The small-diameter (15-20 μ m), high-resistance spiral arteries then become grossly dilated (300-500 μ m), funnel-shaped and low-resistance vessels (Figure 2), increasing the blood flow by about ten times to ensure sufficient blood supply to the developing fetus (Brosens *et al.*, 1972).

In healthy pregnancies, the uteroplacental circulation shows decreasing vascular resistance, markedly in the second trimester and mainly due to the remodelling process resulting in an increased capacitance of these vessels. Previous studies in which placental bed biopsies were performed have shown significantly reduced diameter of the spiral arteries in their myometrial portion in patients affected by PE when compared to healthy controls (Brosens *et al.*, 1972; Pijnenborg *et al.*, 1991; Redman, 1992; Meekins *et al.*, 1994; Lyall, 2002) (Figure 2).



Figure 2 – Differences in diameter of the spiral arteries in non-pregnant women (left), in normal pregnancies after the remodelling of these vessels (right) and in pregnancies affected by PE (centre); adapted from Moffett-King (2002).

The impedance to blood flow in the uteroplacental circulation can be measured with ultrasound Doppler velocimetry techniques through the evaluation of the resistance on the uterine arteries and expressed as the uterine artery pulsatility index (UtPI), which shows a clear positive association with severity of the disease and histological changes (Olofsson *et al.*, 1993).

Not all pregnancies affected by PE, however, show signs of abnormal placentation. In PE that occurs at term, often histological studies of the placenta resemble those of normotensive pregnancies, and the diagnosis of PE is more likely to be confirmed before 32 weeks of gestation in those cases with abnormalities in the uteroplacental circulation (Ghidini *et al.*, 1997). This highlights that high resistance in the uterine arteries not always predicts the development of PE but is rather a predisposing factor.

Histopathology studies have also shown that acute atherosclerosis is a common feature in placentas from pregnancies affected by PE (Sheppard and Bonnar, 1981). However, this finding is not unique to PE, being also present in pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction, thrombophilia or miscarriage (Frusca *et al.*, 1989).

1.4.2. Immunologic and genetic factors

The cause of inadequate remodelling of the spiral during the placentation process in pregnancies affected by PE is unknown. Immunological and genetic theories have been implicated in the pathogenesis of the disease (Redman, 1992).

The development of immunological tolerance to the semi-allogenic fetus, whose genes are half paternal, is facilitated by its reduced expression of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system, a mechanism that endeavours to avoid fetal cells from being innately rejected. Additionally, uterine natural killer (NK) cells initiate smooth muscle remodelling of the spiral arteries and regulate the trophoblastic invasion through the secretion of angiogenic growth factors and cytokines (Lash et al., 2011). These changes allow the innate immune system to adapt and thus prevent a pregnancy loss. A possible altered maternal immune response against the paternally-derived antigens on the

trophoblast is hypothesised as a potential aetiological factor (Sargent *et al.*, 2006). Although identifying the exact immunological mechanism of origin is difficult while the immune system changes in early pregnancy are not entirely understood, this suggestion is corroborated by epidemiological studies that found a higher incidence of PE in pregnancies conceived with the use of donor egg (Martinez-Varea *et al.*, 2014). The immunological theories implicated in PE pathogenesis are also supported by previous studies that reported that higher intervals since the first coitus and co-habitation to conception result in lower incidence of PE, which could be a consequence of development of tolerance to the HLA present in the semen (Marti and Herrmann, 1977; Dekker *et al.*, 1998). Similarly, PE is more common in the first pregnancy, less common in subsequent pregnancies when the partner is the same; and changing partner or prolonged inter-pregnancy interval above ten years increase the risk of PE (Robillard *et al.*, 1993; Dekker *et al.*, 1998; Harutyunyan *et al.*, 2013; Cormick *et al.*, 2016).

It seems that both maternal and fetal genotypes are implicated in the induction of immunological tolerance. Hence, a genetic predisposition may also be involved, and previous studies have shown that women with family history of PE are three times more likely to develop this condition (Arngrimsson *et al.*, 1990; Duckitt and Harrington, 2005). Different genes were reported to be associated with increased risk of PE by regulating either blood pressure or trophoblastic invasion (Cooper and Liston, 1979; Chesley and Cooper, 1986). Hiby *et al.* (2008), for instance, found that a specific combination of maternal KIR (killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor) and fetal HLA-C genotypes is associated with an increased risk of PE. Other polymorphisms in various genes, such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), angiotensinogen, 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and factor V Leiden, have also been associated with increased risk of PE (Morgan and Ward, 1999; Lachmeijer *et al.*, 2001a; Lachmeijer *et al.*, 2001b; Lachmeijer *et al.*, 2002).

A recent large meta-analyses found a higher risk of severe PE when the following gene mutations were found: coagulation factor V (proaccelerin) gene polymorphism rs6025, coagulation factor II (thrombin) gene mutation G20210A, leptin receptor (LEPR) gene polymorphism rs1137100 and the thrombophilic gene group (Fong *et al.*, 2014). Another meta-analysis reported that the presence of a

prothrombin 20210A polymorphism increases by three times a patient's risk of developing severe PE (Wang *et al.*, 2014). However, the causality of these associations and the clinical utility of identifying such changes are yet to be examined in larger studies.

1.4.3. Endothelial dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction seems to be a significant contributor to the pathogenesis of PE. Endothelial cell activation or suppression are hypothesised to be secondary to placental hypoperfusion, ischaemia and infarction with release of inflammatory mediators, cytokines and reactive oxygen species, leading to significant intravascular inflammatory response (Gervasi *et al.*, 2001; Tannetta *et al.*, 2003; Cindrova-Davies *et al.*, 2007; Myatt and Webster, 2009).

Infarcted placental cells also release receptor proteins such as sFLT-1, a protein produced by the syncytiotrophoblasts that is responsible for antagonising angiogenic growth factors, such as VEGF and PLGF (Kendall and Thomas, 1993; Huppertz, 2008). Previous studies have utilised the measurements of sFLT-1 and PLGF, or the ratio between the two, to increase the diagnostic accuracy in patients with suspected PE (Rana *et al.*, 2012; Zeisler *et al.*, 2016).

The vascular injury leads to protein leakage and fluid retention in different organs and systems, causing, for example, proteinuria and generalised oedema. These abnormalities in the vascular system also cause an imbalance on levels of angiogenic proteins (i.e. VEGF and PLGF), and anti-angiogenic proteins (i.e. sFLT-1 and soluble endoglin), further exacerbating the endothelial dysfunction (Maynard *et al.*, 2003; Widmer *et al.*, 2007; Murphy *et al.*, 2013).

Endothelial dysfunction also affects vascular tone and platelet activation. These changes are responsible for platelet dysfunction and thrombocytopaenia that can be present even before the onset of hypertension. Levels of prostacyclin, a vasodilator that inhibits platelet aggregation, are reduced in PE, while levels and thromboxane A2, a vasoconstrictor that promotes platelet aggregation, are increased (Bussolino and Benveniste, 1980; Bussolino and Camussi, 1980; Romero and Duffy, 1980; Walsh, 1985; Romero *et al.*, 1988).

18

In summary, it appears that poor placentation in the first half of the pregnancy is triggered by genetic factors that lead to poor immunological tolerance to the semiallogenic fetus. The suboptimal remodelling of the spiral arteries leads to the release inflammatory mediators, an imbalance in angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors, and oxidative stress. This pre-symptomatic phase is responsible, in the second half of the pregnancy, for endothelial dysfunction that will exacerbate the production of inflammatory mediators and eventually lead to clinical manifestations of PE in different organs and systems (Figure 3).



Figure 3 – A summary of the pathogenesis of preeclampsia; taken from Powe et al. (2011). HTN: hypertension.

1.5. Screening for preeclampsia

The current approach to screen for PE is by identifying risk factors from maternal characteristics and medical history and by measuring BP in antenatal clinics serially. The criteria to classify patients as high-risk and the management of such high-risk patients vary according to different protocols. In the UK, for example, the NICE guidelines are the recommended method of screening and patients with at least one high-risk factor or at least two moderate-risk factors should be reviewed by a healthcare professional every three weeks from 24 to 32 weeks of gestation and at least fortnightly from 32 weeks of gestation until delivery, as well as receive aspirin 75 mg daily (Visintin *et al.*, 2010). In the USA, in a statement published in 2017, the ACOG concludes that currently there are no accurate predictive tests for identifying women at high risk for PE and continues to recommend against other methods of screening, stating that a detailed medical history and serial BP measurements are the best tools to identify patients at high risk of PE.

1.5.1. Maternal risk factors

The vast majority of the studies conducted on prediction and prevention of PE and the protocols aiming to identify women at risk are based on maternal characteristics and medical history. Traditional risk factors are:

- Maternal age: a wealth of studies published have suggested that the risk of PE increases with maternal age. In women older than 35 years of age, the risk of PE is doubled when compared to younger controls (Bianco *et al.*, 1996; Lawoyin and Ani, 1996). Mittendorf *et al.* (1996) reported that the risk of PE increases by 30-40% for every additional year after the age of 34 years. Further studies also support this finding, even after adjustment for confounders and interactions (Poon *et al.*, 2010).
- Parity, change of partner and inter-pregnancy interval: as previously mentioned, primigravidas seem to have a three-fold increase in the likelihood of developing PE (Duckitt and Harrington, 2005), even after adjustment for other risk factors such as maternal age, ethnic origin and body mass index (Luo *et al.*, 2007), whereas women who have previously conceived appear to have

some degree of protection against PE even after a miscarriage (Dekker *et al.*, 1998; Dekker and Sibai, 1998). Multiparity reduces the risk of PE, but this protective effect is lost when the new pregnancy happens after a change of partner (Robillard *et al.*, 1993). Similarly, epidemiological studies have shown an increase in the risk of PE with increasing inter-pregnancy interval, being equivalent of that of a primigravida when the interval is superior to ten years (Conde-Agudelo and Belizan, 2000a; Skjaerven *et al.*, 2002).

- Previous history of PE: experiencing PE in a previous pregnancy increases the risk of recurrence in subsequent pregnancies by seven to ten times (Campbell et al., 1985; Sibai et al., 1986; Lee et al., 2000; Mostello et al., 2002). A large meta-analysis including data from 94 studies reported a risk of recurrence of 13.8%, being inversely related to the gestational age at delivery in the previous pregnancy affected by PE (van Oostwaard et al., 2015).
- Ethnic origin: there is clear evidence showing an increased risk of PE in specific ethnic backgrounds. Afro-Caribbean ethnicity is associated with a 20-50% increase in the risk of PE (Mittendorf *et al.*, 1996; Sibai *et al.*, 1997; Knuist *et al.*, 1998; Mostello *et al.*, 2002; Caughey *et al.*, 2005). Women of South Asian origin are also at increased risk of PE. These findings may be mirroring a different cardiovascular profile, since these are groups also at increased risk of chronic hypertension and cardiovascular disease (Cappuccio, 1997; Cappuccio *et al.*, 1997; Ramaraj and Chellappa, 2008; Khalil *et al.*, 2013). East Asian origin, in contrast, is associated with lower risk of PE, possibly due to differences in BMI and nutritional factors (Xiao *et al.*, 2014).
- Obesity: obesity has become a significant public health issue in the last few decades (The G. B. D. Obesity Collaborators *et al.*, 2017) and is an important risk factor for PE. Increased BMI confers a two to four-fold increase in the risk of PE (Mittendorf *et al.*, 1996; Mostello *et al.*, 2002; Duckitt and Harrington, 2005), and this increase in risk is mainly due to a higher prevalence of lateonset PE among overweight and obese women (Syngelaki *et al.*, 2011; Durst *et al.*, 2016).
- Assisted reproduction technologies (ART): various studies show an increased risk of PE following conception with ART (Maman *et al.*, 1998; Jackson *et al.*, 2004; Shevell *et al.*, 2005; Trogstad *et al.*, 2009). It is unclear whether it is the

in vitro fertilisation (IVF) or the ovulation induction process that increases the risk of PE. A study including more than 47 thousand pregnancies has shown that conception by IVF increases the risk of PE and the risk is even higher in frozen-thawed cycles compared to fresh cycles (Opdahl *et al.*, 2015). Women who conceived by IVF with donor egg are also at significantly higher risk compared to those who undergo IVF with autologous egg (Masoudian *et al.*, 2016; Simeone *et al.*, 2016).

- Family history of PE: the risk of PE is increased three to four-fold in women with a family history of the disease occurring in the mother or the sister (Arngrimsson *et al.*, 1990; Cincotta and Brennecke, 1998).
- Diabetes mellitus: the risk of developing PE in women with type I diabetes appears to be more than three times higher than in the general population (Garner *et al.*, 1990; Ros *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 2000).
- Chronic hypertension: pre-existing hypertension (or chronic hypertension diagnosed before 20 weeks of gestation) doubles the risk of PE (Conde-Agudelo and Belizan, 2000b) and women with this condition are more likely to develop early-onset and severe forms of the disease (Catov *et al.*, 2007).
- *Renal disease:* women with renal disease are more likely to develop PE with a three-fold increase in risk (Martinell *et al.*, 1990; Maruotti *et al.*, 2012).
- Autoimmune disease: the presence of anti-cardiolipin antibodies or lupus anticoagulant has been shown to significantly increase the risk of PE (Branch et al., 1989; Sletnes et al., 1992; Pattison et al., 1993; Dreyfus et al., 2001). A case-control study has also found women who experienced PE to be six times more likely to have an autoimmune disease such as systemic lupus erythematosus (Stamilio et al., 2000).

1.5.2. Current guidelines

In the UK, the NICE guidelines were published in 2008 and revised in 2010 (Visintin *et al.*, 2010). These guidelines state that women should be considered at high risk for PE if they have any high-risk factor or two or more moderate-risk factors.

The high-risk factors are history of hypertensive disease in a previous pregnancy, chronic kidney disease, autoimmune disease, diabetes mellitus and

chronic hypertension; the moderate-risk factors are first pregnancy, maternal age of 40 years or more, inter-pregnancy interval of more than ten years, BMI at first visit of 35 kg/m² or more, and family history of PE. According to NICE, all high-risk women should be offered low-dose aspirin (75 mg daily) (Visintin *et al.*, 2010).

In the USA, according to the ACOG, taking a medical history to evaluate for risk factors is currently the best and only recommended screening approach for PE; the risk factors are nulliparity, age above 40 years, BMI higher than 30 kg/m², conception by IVF, history of previous pregnancy with PE, family history of PE, chronic hypertension, chronic renal disease, diabetes mellitus, systemic lupus erythematosus or thrombophilia (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2015). According to ACOG use of aspirin should be reserved for women with a history of PE in two or more previous pregnancies or at least one previous pregnancy affected by PE requiring delivery before 34 weeks of gestation (American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2013).

These national guidelines were rarely tested in prospective cohorts and do not seem to perform well in studies that evaluated their accuracies (Verghese *et al.*, 2012). The approaches recommended by NICE and ACOG essentially attribute similar weights to each risk factor and does not take in account protective factors, such as multiparity without previous history of PE. In the recently published "Screening Program for Preeclampsia" (SPREE) study, only 40.8% of the cases of preterm PE were identified in the first trimester by the NICE guidelines and less than a quarter (23%) of the patients at high risk were prescribed aspirin, suggesting low compliance to the protocol currently used in the UK (Tan *et al.*, 2018).

1.5.3. Biomarkers

Several markers of preeclampsia were described in the last few decades and could potentially be used in screening for PE. However, no marker has shown to be accurate enough when used isolated. Instead, a combination of markers in a predictive model that also takes into account the interactions between them can increase accuracy and reduce false-positive results. The most commonly used and with higher performance are biophysical markers such as BP and uterine artery Doppler, and biochemical markers such as pregnancy-associated plasma protein (PAPP-A), placental growth factor (PLGF) and soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFLT-1).

1.5.3.1. Biophysical markers *Blood pressure*

Previous studies have consistently shown that women destined to develop PE have elevated BP already in the first and second trimesters before other clinical manifestations of the disease appear (Moutquin *et al.*, 1985; Higgins *et al.*, 1997; Poon *et al.*, 2008). The difference between BP levels in women who will later present with PE and unaffected pregnancies is more prominent in cases of severe and early-onset disease than in cases of PE at term (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b).

Mercury sphygmomanometers have traditionally been used to measure BP in antenatal care, but concerns regarding their accuracy and safety have been raised (Markandu *et al.*, 2000). The use of automated devices may be more accurate, and a standardised technique has been described for reliable measurement of MAP in pregnancy (Poon *et al.*, 2012), which involves two readings in each arm at the level of the heart, with adequate cuff size and after five minutes of rest. These readings are then used to calculate the MAP and its value, just like all other biomarkers, is then expressed in multiples of the median (MoM) after adjustment for gestational age and maternal factors that influence the MAP.

Uterine artery Doppler

Assessment of the resistance to blood flow in the uterine arteries was first described in 1983 (Campbell *et al.*, 1983). The literature consistently shows that higher resistance levels, reported as high pulsatility index (PI) or resistance index (RI), correlate with both histological studies and clinical severity of PE. As with MAP, the earlier and more severe PE develops, the more pronounced the differences in mean UtPI from cases to controls, being poorly predictive of term disease (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b). The use of indices is preferred over the reporting of subjective markers of high resistance like early diastolic notch (Figure 4), which are

poorly predictive of adverse pregnancy outcomes (Kaminopetros *et al.*, 1991; Olofsson *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 4 – (a) Normal uterine artery blood flow Doppler waveform, with an abundance of end-diastolic flow (arrow); (b) waveform characteristic of high-resistance blood flow, with a steeper systolic upslope when compared to the normal waveform, with an early diastolic notch (yellow arrow) and reduced end-diastolic flow velocity (courtesy of Prof Kypros Nicolaides, Fetal Medicine Foundation, UK).

The PI is defined by the difference between the peak systolic velocity and the minimum diastolic velocity, divided by the peak systolic velocity. The RI is determined by the same difference divided by the mean velocity.

On transabdominal or transvaginal ultrasound, the uterine artery is identified with the use of colour Doppler and pulsed wave is applied to measure blood flow velocity. In the first trimester or at a transvaginal ultrasound at any stage, the uterine artery is identified at the level of the internal cervical os. After measuring the right and left uterine arteries PI, the mean UtPI is expressed in MoM values after adjustment for maternal characteristics and gestational age.

During transabdominal ultrasound in the second trimester, due to difficult visualisation of the cervix, this vessel is identified in its apparent cross-over with the external iliac artery. When technically possible, transvaginal measurements should be avoided, as they result in higher PI values (Plasencia *et al.*, 2008; Plasencia *et al.*, 2011).

1.5.3.2. Biochemical markers

A large number of biochemical markers have been evaluated for clinical use in the prediction of PE. At present, no marker used in isolation can accurately predict the occurrence of PE. In general, the altered levels of biochemical markers in patients who will later experience PE are a preclinical sign of impaired placentation, release of inflammatory factors, platelet activation, endothelial dysfunction, abnormal oxidative stress or maternal renal impairment. Two of the most extensively investigated biomarkers are PAPP-A and PLGF, placental products that are significantly lower, even in the first trimester, in patients who will later experience early and severe forms of PE (O'Gorman et al., 2016b). They can be measured in automated machines with reproducible results provided within 30 to 40 minutes after blood sampling. These markers are also influenced by gestational age and different maternal characteristics. Thus, their results should also be expressed in MoM values, after adjustment for these confounders (Spencer et al., 2006; Poon et al., 2009b; Lai et al., 2013; Lai et al., 2014; Tsiakkas et al., 2015; Wright et al., 2015a; Khalil et al., 2016; Tsiakkas et al., 2016a; Andrietti et al., 2017). Some other markers, such as sFLT-1, are only predictive when used in the second or third trimester, being no different in the first trimester in patients who will later develop PE from normotensive controls (Akolekar et al., 2010).

Pregnancy-associated plasma protein A (PAPP-A)

PAPP-A is secreted by the syncytiotrophoblasts and plays an essential role in placental growth and development. Its measurement is widely used in first-trimester screening for fetal chromosomal abnormalities, given the fact that pregnancies affected by trisomy 21 (Down's syndrome), trisomy 18 (Edward's syndrome) and trisomy 13 (Patau's syndrome), are associated with significantly reduced PAPP-A levels (Bersinger *et al.*, 1994; Spencer *et al.*, 1999; Kagan *et al.*, 2008). Pregnancies affected by PE have also been shown to have significantly lower PAPP-A at all stages of pregnancy before the onset of the disease (Poon *et al.*, 2009b). However, the isolated use of PAPP-A below the 5th percentile (0.4 MoM) predicts only 8-23%

of the cases of PE, with reported odds ratio (OR) between 1.5 and 4.6 (Smith *et al.*, 2002; Yaron *et al.*, 2002; Dugoff *et al.*, 2004; Spencer *et al.*, 2005).

Placental growth factor (PLGF)

PLGF is an angiogenic factor, part of the vascular endothelial growth factor family, secreted by the cytotrophoblasts. Its levels are significantly decreased in the first trimester in women who will experience PE (Ahmad and Ahmed, 2004; Levine *et al.*, 2004; Stepan *et al.*, 2007a; Stepan *et al.*, 2007b; Akolekar *et al.*, 2008; O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b).

1.5.5. Inversion of the pyramid of prenatal care

The current approach to antenatal care is based on a booking visit in which the health professional obtains a detailed maternal medical history to identify risk factors for pregnancy complications. The intervals between visits are large up until the third trimester, being then shortened to fortnightly or weekly visits, aiming to identify as early as possible complications that typically appear in the second half of the pregnancy, such as PE, gestational diabetes mellitus and obstetric cholestasis. Hence, the BP should be measured in all antenatal visits. In 1929, the Ministry of Health in the UK issued a Memorandum on Antenatal Clinics recommending that women should first be seen at 16 weeks, then at 24 and 28 weeks, fortnightly thereafter until 36 weeks and then weekly until delivery (Ministry of Health Report, 1929). However, there is a clear trend in the literature in recent years toward the attempt to predict pregnancy complications in the first trimester, allowing for early initiation of preventive measures and close surveillance of high-risk pregnancies. This concept has been referred to as "inversion of the pyramid of antenatal care" (Nicolaides, 2011) (Figure 5).



Figure 5 – Left: the traditional model of prenatal care established in 1929; Right: the inverted pyramid of antenatal care with screening for pregnancy complications at 12 weeks and stratification of care after the first visit; taken from Nicolaides (2011).

1.5.6. Combined screening

An alternative method of screening for PE is based on the combination of biophysical and biochemical markers with maternal characteristics and medical history to obtain an individual probability of developing PE, in a similar approach to that of the combined screening test for Down's syndrome. In these predictive models, the *a priori* risk based on maternal characteristics and history is then adjusted (Bayes' theorem) after addition of biomarkers measurement through a mathematical equation derived from logistic regression or competing risk models (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b).

Logistic regression models produce risk estimates based on the multiplication of regression coefficients by the individual value of each variable used in the model when predicting a categorical outcome variable. This combined method of screening is performed using equations obtained by logistic regression analysis to derive the *a priori* risks of PE from maternal characteristics. The maternal factors-related *a priori* risks are then multiplied by the likelihood ratios of the biophysical and biochemical markers to derive the *a posteriori* risks (Akolekar *et al.*, 2011). It is hypothesised that for each predictor in the model development, ten events should have occurred to avoid overfitting (Vittinghoff and McCulloch, 2007).

In a competing risk model (Kalbfleisch and Prentice, 2002), it is assumed that if the pregnancy were to continue indefinitely, all women would develop this condition. Therefore, there is a competition between the delivery with PE and delivery for other reasons. The distribution of gestational age at birth with PE is then obtained by applying Bayes' theorem (Wright et al., 2012; Akolekar et al., 2013; Wright et al., 2015b; Gallo et al., 2016; O'Gorman et al., 2016b) to combine the prior distribution based on maternal characteristics with likelihoods of the time to delivery with PE given by biomarkers measurements (adjusted for confounding characteristics and expressed in MoM values). A recent study by O'Gorman et al. (2016b), including 35,948 pregnancies between 11 and 13 weeks of gestation, reported that while maternal characteristics and history alone would detect only 49% of the cases of preterm PE, screening by combining maternal characteristics and history with MAP, mean UtPI and PLGF predicted 89% of the cases of PE requiring delivery before 32 weeks, 75% of the cases of preterm PE and 47% of the cases of term PE, for a fixed false-positive rate (FPR) of 10%. In this study, the addition of PAPP-A to the predictive model did not significantly increase the detection rates when PLGF was included, suggesting some degree of overlap and interaction between the two biochemical markers (O'Gorman et al., 2016b).

Different combinations of markers yield various detection rates for the same FPR and would be useful, for example, in low-income settings where biochemical markers measurement might not be available. Another study, performed in a low-resource area of Brazil using only maternal factors and MAP in the first trimester predicted 67% of the cases of preterm PE at a 10% FPR (Rocha *et al.*, 2017).

Predictive models have been criticised because of the possibility of a better performance of the algorithm in the cohort used to develop the model than in prospective validation studies, a phenomenon known as overfitting. Other authors criticise the use of these predictive models because they often lack cross-validation and external validation studies (Oliveira *et al.*, 2014; Brunelli and Prefumo, 2015; Kleinrouweler *et al.*, 2016).

1.6. Prevention of preeclampsia with aspirin

Aspirin is one of the oldest medications still in widespread use. The utilisation of aspirin-related compounds derived from the willow tree bark, "*salix*", and reports

can be found in Egyptian papyrus scrolls dating back to 1534 BCE (Ebers, 2018). Hippocrates and his disciples also extracted powder from the same tree to treat headaches and fevers (Miner and Hoffhines, 2007). In 1828, Johann Buchner extracted the active ingredient of the willow plant and called it *"salicin"*, word that represents willow in Latin; a few years later the sodium salicylate was treated with acetyl chloride to produce acetylsalicylic acid, and the first tablets were industrially produced in 1915 (Miner and Hoffhines, 2007). In 1971, Vale, Samuelson and Bergstrom were awarded a Nobel prize after elucidating the mechanism of action of the drug; nowadays, aspirin is one of the most commonly prescribed medications, taken by more than 50 million people for prevention of cardiovascular disease and with about 40,000 tons consumed every year (Navaratnam *et al.*, 2016).

Several interventions, including non-pharmacological (such as bed rest and reduction of salt intake) and pharmacological measures, have been studied for the prevention of PE, and aspirin has been the most widely considered pharmacological intervention with this purpose.

1.6.1. First reports

In 1978, Goodlin *et al.* (1978) reported in a prestigious medical journal a case of a woman who was pregnant for the third time, having had two previous pregnancies affected by severe hypertension, thrombocytopaenia and fetal growth restriction, requiring premature deliveries at around 30 weeks of gestation. In the third pregnancy, platelets were markedly reduced already at 15 weeks of gestation, but after initiation of treatment with aspirin (600 mg three times a day), the platelet count slowly increased to twice as high values, and no signs of hypertension were present at 32 weeks of gestation. At that stage, aspirin was ceased due to the fear of side effects to the fetus such as premature closure of the arterial duct, and there was an acute development of hypertension and thrombocytopaenia again, suggesting a potential beneficial effect of aspirin in high-risk cases.

One year later, Crandon and Isherwood (1979) published, in the same periodic, the results of a questionnaire survey administered to 964 primigravidae women, and those who had frequently taken aspirin or non-steroidal anti-

30

inflammatory drugs during pregnancy had a significantly lower incidence of PE compared to those who did not take these drugs regularly.

1.6.2. Mechanism of action of aspirin

The mechanism by which aspirin could potentially prevent PE is unclear. Theories include the inhibition of platelet activation that occurs in PE through changes in the prostacyclin and thromboxane A2 cascade, improvement in placentation, and anti-inflammatory effects on endothelial cells (Redman *et al.*, 1978; Crandon and Isherwood, 1979).

An *in vitro* study with a model of placental cells and the addition of serum from women with and without PE has shown that in PE the production of PLGF and its gene expression are reduced compared to controls, cytokines levels are altered, the differentiation of placental cells is abnormal, and markers of cellular apoptosis are increased. All these alterations were reverted to normal levels with the addition aspirin to the experiment (Panagodage *et al.*, 2016).

1.6.3. Randomised trials

In the first randomised trial on the effect of aspirin on pregnancy complications, Beaufils *et al.* (1985) randomised 102 women at high risk of PE or fetal growth restriction (FGR) to receive 150 mg of aspirin daily or no treatment from 12 weeks of gestation. PE occurred in six patients and severe FGR or fetal death in nine patients in the non-treatment group, but none of the patients in the aspirin group was affected by these complications.

Similarly, a small placebo-controlled trial randomised 46 primigravidae women judged to be at high risk of hypertensive disorders at 28 weeks of gestation to receive aspirin at a daily dose of 60 mg or placebo. The incidence of PE and PIH was markedly reduced in the aspirin group (Wallenburg *et al.*, 1986) without a significant increase in side-effects.

Many other intervention studies followed, and part of the excitement about the potential beneficial effect of aspirin vanished when a large landmark study known as

CLASP trial (Collaborative Low-dose Aspirin Study in Pregnancy) showed that, despite being safe for the mother and the child, aspirin at a daily dose of 60 mg did not reduce the incidence of PE when compared to placebo (CLASP Collaborative Group, 1994). The study included 9,364 women at risk of PE or FGR due to medical history and also pregnancies already diagnosed with PE and FGR. There was, however, a significant trend towards progressively greater reductions in PE the more preterm the delivery occurred. It is now believed that the negative results of this trial could have been due to the low dose used (60 mg), inadequate selection of high-risk patients and late initiation of aspirin (treatment was started at different stages between 12 and 32 weeks).

1.6.4. Meta-analyses

In 2001, a meta-analysis including more than 30,000 pregnancies from 39 trials reported a 15% reduction in the risk of PE among women who used antiplatelet agents during pregnancy (relative risk 0.85, 95% CI 0.78-0.92) (Duley *et al.*, 2001).

Similarly, the PARIS (Perinatal Antiplatelet Review of International Studies) study was a meta-analysis of individual patient data including 31 randomised trials evaluating the effect of anti-platelet agents on the prevention of PE, 23 of which used aspirin (Askie *et al.*, 2007). This study found a significant but very modest 10% reduction of PE in the treatment group compared to placebo or no treatment (relative risk 0.90, 95% CI 0.84-0.97), but no differences in stillbirth or delivery of small for gestational age infants. Aspirin again appeared to be safe, as adverse events were similar between the groups. In the trials included in the PARIS study, 14 different definitions of PE were used. A large proportion of the studies used aspirin at a daily dose that was lower than 100 mg (21/23), and 20 of 23 studies started the treatment after 15 weeks of gestation.

Evaluating the platelet function in pregnant women making use of aspirin, Caron *et al.* (2009) demonstrated that, at 81 mg, the standard dose in North America, about 30% of the women were non-responders, with no alterations in platelet function. When the dose was doubled (162 mg), non-responsiveness was less than 5%. This finding was supported by a later meta-analysis including 20,909 pregnant women, which reported a dose-dependent and a significant reduction and in PE cases when aspirin is initiated before 16 weeks of gestation, but not when treatment is started after this gestational age or with lower doses (Roberge *et al.*, 2017b). Previous meta-analyses published by the same group have also shown a significant risk reduction for PE, FGR and perinatal death with aspirin started before 16 weeks of gestation (Roberge *et al.*, 2012a; Roberge *et al.*, 2013b). Equally, there was a very pronounced reduction in the occurrence of preterm PE, but no statistically significant reduction of PE at term (Roberge *et al.*, 2012a). The studies by Roberge *et al.* were not meta-analyses of individual patient data and, for this reason, could have overestimated the beneficial effect of aspirin. However, their results show a benefit only when aspirin is started before 16 weeks of gestation, at a dose higher than 100 mg and when the outcome measure is preterm PE rather than term PE or all PE cases.

In a recent secondary analysis of the PARIS study (Meher *et al.*, 2017), the authors did not find differences when the results were stratified by gestational age at which treatment was initiated (before or after 16 weeks of gestation) and by dose of aspirin given (higher or lower than 75 mg), but the authors did not analyse a combination of both (dose > 75 mg initiated before 16 weeks of gestation) (Roberge *et al.*, 2017a).

In view of the conflicting results reported in the literature, the aims of the publications included in this thesis are, first, to prospectively test and validate the FMF algorithm for prediction of PE in a large European population; second, to compare this method of screening to the performance of currently used guidelines; third, to evaluate a possible beneficial effect of aspirin initiated at 11 to 14 weeks of gestation and at a dose of 150 mg in the prevention of PE in a multicentre double-blind placebo-controlled randomised trial; and fourth, to analyse a potential role of cell-free DNA testing in the prediction of PE. My contribution for each one of the studies included in this thesis is summarised in the Appendix.
2. Validation of combined screening for preeclampsia

The second chapter of this thesis consists of three publications. The first two report the findings of a validation study performed before the initiation of the Combined multi-marker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE) trial, denominated Screening Quality Study. The third one reports the validation of a similar approach to screening for PE in the Australian population, in the second trimester of pregnancy, using maternal factors, MAP and UtPI.

In the first publication (O'Gorman et al., 2017b), we report the accuracy of the screening test in a prospective application of the FMF algorithm for prediction of preterm PE in the first trimester in hospitals participating of the subsequent ASPRE trial. This study was proposed to test the screening prospectively in a large European population. Patients attending first-trimester combined screening for chromosomal abnormalities at 11 to 13 weeks of gestation were also offered combined screening for PE at the same time using collection of maternal characteristics and medical history, measurement of MAP and UtPI according to previously published techniques (Plasencia et al., 2007; Poon et al., 2012) and maternal serum biochemistry. Inclusion criteria were defined as maternal age > 18 years; singleton pregnancy; live fetus at 11 to 13 weeks of gestation; no serious mental illness or learning difficulty; and informed and written consent. The individual risk for preterm PE was calculated and was not disclosed to the patients. 8,775 patients were screened, and the incidence of PE was 2.7% (239), with PE requiring delivery before 32 weeks of gestation affecting 0.2% (17) and preterm PE 0.7% (59) of the pregnancies. The detection rates were 89% (95% CI 79-96%), 75% (95% CI 70-80%) and 47% (95% CI 44-51%) for PE < 32 weeks, preterm PE and term disease, respectively. These figures were similar to those reported in the development of the algorithm (O'Gorman et al., 2016b).

In the second publication (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2017a), we compared the performance of the screening test to current policies of screening based on maternal factors alone (NICE guidelines and ACOG recommendations) in the same cohort of 8,775 patients. Whereas combined screening detected 75% (95% CI 70-80%) of the cases of preterm PE at a 10% FPR, screening with use of NICE guidelines identified 39% (95% CI 27-53%) of PE < 37 weeks at 10.2% FPR and screening with use of ACOG risk factors detected 90% (95% CI 79-96%) of PE <37 weeks, at a much

35

higher FPR of 64.2%. Screening based on the ACOG recommendations for the use of aspirin detected only 5% (95% CI 2-14%) of the preterm PE cases. This illustrates that methods based on maternal history and characteristics alone have either low detection rates or high FPR.

Other studies also validated the first trimester combined screening by applying the FMF algorithm in different populations, with similar results (Park *et al.*, 2013; Park *et al.*, 2015; Lobo *et al.*, 2017).

A similar way of screening through the combination of multiple markers with maternal factors can also be used in the second trimester (Gallo *et al.*, 2016) or the third trimester (Tayyar *et al.*, 2014; Tsiakkas *et al.*, 2016b). This is particularly important to reassess risks in models in which care is stratified according to previous screening tests results (Litwinska *et al.*, 2017) or in settings where a significant proportion of patients attend antenatal care too late for first-trimester screening, after 14 weeks of gestation (Gross *et al.*, 2012; Muhwava *et al.*, 2016). Although no intervention appears to reduce the incidence of PE when started after 20 weeks of gestation, cases identified late as high risk may benefit from increased surveillance. Hence, in the third publication presented in this chapter (Al-Amin *et al.*, 2018), we prospectively tested the combined screening for PE in the Australian population in the second trimester, in a cohort of 543 women attending fetal morphology ultrasound at 19 to 22 weeks of gestation. Combined screening detected all cases of preterm PE, performing better and with a lower screen-positive rate than NICE guidelines and ACOG recommendations criteria.

Strengths and limitations

The main limitation of the three studies presented in this chapter is the relatively small incidence of early-onset and preterm PE, leading to inevitably wide confidence intervals. Specifically, the number of women screened in the third study is limited. Nevertheless, the detection rates with the predictive model in all three studies are similar to those reported in previously published studies (Wright *et al.*, 2012; Akolekar *et al.*, 2013; Gallo *et al.*, 2016; O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b).

Publications

1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28067011

O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Wright A, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Jani J *et al.* Accuracy of competing-risks model in screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017;49: 751-755.

2. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28295782

O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Alvarado M, Carbone IF, Dutemeyer V, Fiolna M, Frick A *et al.* Multicenter screening for preeclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation: comparison with NICE guidelines and ACOG recommendations. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017;49: 756-760.

3. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28850663

Al-Amin A, Rolnik DL, Black C, White A, Stolarek C, Brennecke S, da Silva Costa F. Accuracy of second trimester prediction of preterm preeclampsia by three different screening algorithms. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2018;58: 192-196.

3. Development and design of the ASPRE trial

This chapter is based on the publication of the Combined multi-marker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE) study protocol in an open access journal (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016a). The ASPRE trial was designed to address the controversy as to whether aspirin reduces or not the risk of PE, brought to light by previous studies that were very heterogeneous regarding the selection of high-risk patients, dose and time of initiation of treatment with aspirin. Given that results of recent meta-analyses showed an apparent effect of aspirin at doses of 100 mg or higher and start of treatment before 16 weeks of gestation on the incidence of preterm (but not term) PE (Bujold *et al.*, 2010; Roberge *et al.*, 2012b), we designed a large multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial starting aspirin at 11 to 14 weeks of gestation at a dose of 150 mg daily, at night, to women deemed to be at high risk by the FMF combined predictive model at the same time of the 11 to 13 weeks ultrasound for chromosomal abnormalities screening, until 36 weeks of gestation or birth if it happened before 36 weeks.

All patients attending first-trimester combined screening for chromosomal abnormalities at 11 to 13 weeks of gestation would also be offered combined screening for PE at the same time using collection of maternal characteristics and medical history, measurement of MAP and UtPI on ultrasound by previously published techniques (Plasencia *et al.*, 2007; Poon *et al.*, 2012) and measurement of serum PAPP-A and PLGF. The individual risk of preterm PE would be calculated through equations embedded in the ultrasound reporting software once the results were received and the patient would be informed about the risk. Patients considered to be at high risk, with the probability of developing preterm PE above a certain threshold chosen to result in a 10% screen-positive rate, would then be invited to participate in the randomised trial of aspirin versus placebo.

There were 13 academic hospitals participating in the trial, including six centres in the UK; three in Spain, and one in each of Italy, Belgium, Greece and Israel. Adherence to the study protocol would be monitored by the Comprehensive Clinical Trials Unit, University College London (CCTU-UCL).

Inclusion criteria for screening were defined as maternal age > 18 years; singleton pregnancy; live fetus at 11 to 13 weeks of gestation; English, Italian,

Spanish, French, Dutch or Greek-speaking (otherwise interpreters would be used); and informed and written consent. Patients younger than 18 years, multiple pregnancies, cases of major fetal abnormality identified at the 11 to 13 weeks assessment and women who were unconscious, severely ill, those with learning difficulties or serious mental illness would be excluded from screening.

High-risk patients would be excluded from randomisation if they were taking low-dose aspirin regularly, previously diagnosed with bleeding disorders (such as Von Willebrand's disease), peptic ulceration, hypersensitivity to aspirin or they were already on long-term non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication. Cases of concurrent participation in another drug trial at any time within the previous 28 days, or with any other reason the clinical investigators thought would prevent the potential participant from complying with the trial protocol would also be excluded from the randomised study.

The sample size was calculated assuming that the screen-positive rate would be 10%, that 76% of the cases of preterm PE would be identified and that 60% of the high-risk women would agree to participate in the study. We would need to screen 29,330 pregnancies to identify 2,933 high-risk cases and randomise 1,760 to detect a possible significant effect of aspirin in reducing the incidence of preterm PE by 50% when compared to placebo at a 5% significance level and with 90% statistical power. This number was also calculated to account for attrition, expecting a 10% loss to follow-up or drop-out rate.

Strengths and limitations

The ASPRE trial was designed to be the largest multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to date to examine the effect of aspirin in women at high-risk for preterm PE identified in the first trimester. To maximise the potential benefit of aspirin in the prevention of preterm PE and given the findings of recent literature, a higher dose of aspirin (150 mg) would be used to avoid resistance. The main limitation of the study would be the lack of long-term follow-up of the offspring, as the outcome collection was limited to the early neonatal period.

Publication

1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27354081

O'Gorman N, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Study protocol for the randomised controlled trial: combined multimarker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE). *BMJ Open* 2016;6: e011801.

4. Multicentre double-blind placebo-controlled trial with aspirin – the ASPRE trial

This chapter consists of the main publication of this work. It reflects the results of the Combined multi-marker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention trial (ASPRE), a large multicentre double-blind, placebo-controlled intervention study (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017b).

My contribution to the ASPRE study included overall coordination of the trial, training of staff in all sites prior to commencement, recruitment and follow-up of patients at King's College Hospital (London, UK), reporting of adverse events to CCTU-UCL, oversight of data collection in all sites, collection of pregnancy outcomes, quality assurance of biomarker measurements in all sites, and writing of the manuscript.

In total, 26,941 women underwent first-trimester screening for PE by a combination of maternal characteristics and history, MAP, UtPI, PAPP-A and PLGF. Of those, 2,971 (11%) were found to be at high risk for developing PE, using a risk cut-off of 1 in 100. After counselling, 1,776 (60%) high-risk patients were eligible and agreed to randomisation, 878 allocated to blindly receive aspirin at a dose of 150 mg and 898 to receive placebo daily from 11 to 14 until 36 weeks of gestation. The final number of patients in each group were 798 for aspirin and 822 for placebo, as 152 (8.6%) patients withdrew consent and four patients (0.2%) were lost to follow-up. For the primary outcome (PE with delivery before 37 weeks of gestation), we reported adjusted odds ratio (OR) with 95% CI, and for secondary outcomes OR with 99% CI (PE with delivery before 34 weeks, term PE, stillbirth, neonatal death, poor fetal growth).

All patients participating in the randomised trial received follow-up phone calls at 16 and 28 weeks of gestation in order to assess the occurrence of side-effects and compliance to treatment and were advised to attend follow-up visits including blood pressure measurement, fetal growth assessment by ultrasound, evaluation of side-effects (which were strictly reported to the CCTU-UCL), as well as assessment of compliance by counting the remaining tablets at 22 to 24^{+6} , 32 to 34^{+6} and 36 to 36^{+6} weeks of gestation.

Baseline characteristics were similar between the groups. Adherence to treatment was good, with 80% of the patients taking 85% or more of the tablets. Aspirin reduced the incidence of preterm PE by 62% (OR 0.38, 95% CI 0.20-0.74,

p=0.004). This reduction was also significant in the survival analysis. There was also a non-significant reduction in early-onset PE (OR 0.18, 99% CI 0.03-1.03), earlyonset fetal growth restriction (OR 0.53, 99% CI 0.16-1.77), stillbirth before 37 weeks (OR 0.78, 99% CI 0.31-1.95) and preterm placental abruption (OR 0.52, 99% CI 0.06-4.91). The study was not powered for such secondary outcomes.

There was no increase in side effects, fetal abnormalities or other adverse events in the aspirin group when compared to the placebo group.

The results of the ASPRE trial confirm that daily aspirin initiated before 16 weeks of gestation, at a dose of 150 mg per day, to high-risk patients identified by first trimester combined screening, reduces the incidence of preterm PE. This study has been cited several times since publication, and its results were practice-changing, with increasing implementation of first trimester screening for PE worldwide and prescription of a higher dose of aspirin (150 mg) to high-risk patients compared to the commonly prescribed doses before publication (100 mg or less).

New meta-analyses performed after the publication of the ASPRE trial including its results also confirm the beneficial dose-dependent effect of aspirin in the prevention of preterm PE (Roberge *et al.*, 2018a; Seidler *et al.*, 2018).

Strengths and limitations

Unlike previous trials, this was the first large multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to include high-risk women by means of first trimester combined screening. Aspirin was initiated before 16 weeks and with a dose higher than usual based on the apparent dose-dependent effect in the prevention of preterm PE. Measurements of biomarkers were obtained in a standardised manner by trained operators. Adherence to treatment was carefully assessed during follow-up visits, and compliance with the study protocol was rigorously monitored by an independent entity, the Comprehensive Clinical Trials Unit, University College London. An independent statistician performed the statistical analysis. Funding organisations had no role in study design, collection, analysis or interpretation of the data, or writing of the manuscripts.

The main limitation of the study is the lack of long-term follow-up of the offspring, as the outcome collection was limited to the early neonatal period. The incidence of preterm PE was lower than what was anticipated, possibly a consequence of differences between the demographic characteristics of the trial population and those of the cohort used in the development of the algorithm.

Publication

1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28657417

Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LC, O'Gorman N, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M *et al.* Aspirin versus Placebo in Pregnancies at High Risk for Preterm Preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med* 2017;377: 613-622.

5. Secondary analyses of the ASPRE trial

This chapter is comprised by five sections, each containing one publication with a secondary analysis of the ASPRE trial.

5.1. Performance of combined screening during the ASPRE trial

This section includes a publication describing the performance of screening in the actual randomised study (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017c). Of 26,941 women screened, 1,144 (4.2%) were excluded due to loss of follow-up or study withdrawal (n = 716), miscarriage (n = 243) or termination of the pregnancy (n = 185), leaving 25,797 patients in the study. During the randomised trial, the performance of screening was very similar to that of published studies using similar first trimester algorithms for prediction of PE (Poon *et al.*, 2009a; Akolekar *et al.*, 2013; O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b). The analysis was adjusted for the beneficial effect of aspirin by estimating the number of events (preterm PE) in those receiving treatment if aspirin had no effect. No significant effect of aspirin was seen on PE at term in the trial.

Using a risk cut-off of 1 in 100 to define the high-risk population, screening for PE had a detection rate of 76.7% for preterm PE and 43.1% for term PE, at a screen-positive rate of 10.5% and false-positive rate of 9.2%.

Strengths and limitations

The randomised controlled trial showed a significant effect of aspirin in reducing the incidence of preterm PE. The analysis in the evaluation of the screening had to be adjusted for this effect and, therefore, this was not a non-intervention validation study.

Publication

1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28741785

Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LCY, Syngelaki A, O'Gorman N, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M *et al.* ASPRE trial: performance of screening for preterm pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017;50: 492-495.

5.2. Incidence of preterm preeclampsia in patients fulfilling ACOG and NICE criteria according to risk by the FMF algorithm

This section is based on a publication that reports the rate of preterm PE in women that fulfil the screening criteria of the NICE guidelines and ACOG risk factors and compares the incidence of preterm PE in those that are screen-positive (risk > 1 in 100) and screen-negative (risk \leq 1 in 100) by the FMF algorithm in the first trimester.

In this publication (Poon *et al.*, 2018), a secondary analysis of the ASPRE study was performed including all women screened during the validation phase (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2017b) and the randomised trial period (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017b). In total, 34,573 singleton pregnancies delivering at \geq 24 weeks of gestation were included, and 239 (0.7%) were affected by preterm PE.

At least one of the ACOG risk factors was fulfilled in 64.5% of the population, and the incidence of preterm PE in this group was 0.97% (95% CI 0.85-1.11%); in the subgroup that was screen-positive by FMF (risk > 1 in 100), the incidence of preterm PE was 4.8% (95% CI 4.14-5.55%), whereas in the subgroup that screened negative by the FMF algorithm, the incidence of preterm PE was 0.25% (95% CI 0.18-0.33%). At least one of the NICE guidelines high-risk factors was present in 4.0% of the screened population, and the incidence of preterm PE in this group was 5.17% (95% CI 4.13-6.46%); in the subgroups of screen-positive and screennegative by the FMF algorithm the incidence was 8.71% (95% CI 6.93-10.89%) and 0.65% (95% CI 0.25-1.67%), respectively. At least two of the NICE guidelines moderate-risk factors were present in 6.8% of the study population and the incidence of preterm PE in this group was 1.74% (95% CI 1.28-2.35%); in the subgroups of screen-positive and screen-negative by the FMF algorithm the incidence was 4.91% (95% CI 3.54-6.79%) and 0.42% (95% CI 0.20-0.86%), respectively.

These findings are consistent with our previous studies (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2017a; Al-Amin *et al.*, 2018) that show that risk-based methods of screening are superior to current guidelines based solely on maternal characteristics and medical history. Additionally, it is important to highlight that screening negative by the FMF

algorithm in the first trimester is reassuring even in the presence of risk factors, such as the history of a previous pregnancy affected by PE.

The results of this study provide further evidence to support combined screening for PE. In women fulfilling criteria by history-based screening methods and with a low risk according to first-trimester risk calculation by the FMF algorithm, the risk of preterm PE is reduced to within or below background levels.

Strengths and limitations

This study included a large population and collected data prospectively on maternal characteristics and history, biophysical and biochemical markers in women attending routine care between 11 and 13 weeks, a range widely used for screening of chromosomal abnormalities and other major fetal malformations. Consistency on biomarkers measurement was maintained throughout the study following training of all investigators according to standardised protocol and adherence to the study protocol was monitored by an independent entity (CCTU-UCL).

The main limitation of the study relates to the low number of cases of women with certain risk factors, such as systemic lupus erythematosus or anti-phospholipid syndrome, leading to wide confidence intervals for relative incidences. Nonetheless, there was a consistent reduction in the incidence of preterm PE in the FMF screennegative group compared to that in the screen-positive group.

Publication

2. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29380918

Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Tan MY, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Akolekar R, Singh M, Andrade W, Efeturk T, Jani JC et al. ASPRE trial: incidence of preterm pre-eclampsia in patients fulfilling ACOG and NICE criteria according to risk by FMF algorithm. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2018;51: 738-742.

5.3. Influence of adherence to treatment on the effect of aspirin in the prevention of preterm preeclampsia

This section is based on a publication evaluating the impact of adherence to treatment on the beneficial effect of aspirin (Wright *et al.*, 2017). Several studies have shown that patients who are adherent to drug therapies have better outcomes than those with poor compliance (Coronary Drug Project Research, 1980; Cramer, 2002; Avorn, 2006; Simpson *et al.*, 2006; Abbott-Mitchell, 2007; Cramer *et al.*, 2008). Although randomised trials are often conducted on an intention-to-treat basis, their results could be influenced by the level of adherence to treatment of the participants.

In this secondary analysis of the ASPRE trial (Rolnik et al., 2017b), we examined the factors affecting compliance to treatment and its influence on the beneficial effect of aspirin in preventing preterm PE. Compliance was assessed by counting the tablets that were returned by the patients at each visit and by the participants' reporting of tablet counts during each telephone interview. The total number of tablets taken was calculated by subtracting the number of tablets returned from the number of tablets prescribed. Compliance was calculated as a percentage of the reported intake to the total number of tablets that participants were expected to have taken between the date of randomisation and the date of the visit at 36 weeks of gestation or the date of delivery if it occurred before 36 weeks. Compliance to the treatment of 90% or more was associated with a significantly greater reduction in the incidence of preterm PE (OR 0.24, 95% CI 0.09-0.65), when compared to compliance below 90% (OR 0.59, 95% CI 0.23-1.53). Adherence to treatment was positively associated with family history of PE and negatively associated with smoking, maternal age below 25 years, Afro-Caribbean and South Asian ethnic origins and history of PE in a previous pregnancy.

A possible explanation for the surprising finding of lower compliance among women with previous pregnancies affected by PE is that poor compliance may also be associated with an unknown attribute or with other maternal characteristics that are also associated with PE, such as ethnic origin.

Strengths and limitations

The main limitation of this study is that it consists of a secondary analysis of the ASPRE trial, which was not adequately powered for such secondary analysis. Furthermore, it relied on the counting of tablets as a method of ascertaining compliance rather than a more objective measurement of a biomarker. There is a wide range of platelet activation and function assays that have been used to assess responsiveness to aspirin, but these assays suffer from limited reproducibility and poor agreement between them, and suboptimal suppression of platelet activation does not necessarily reflect poor compliance (Navaratnam *et al.*, 2016). Nevertheless, the findings of this study support previous literature reports (Coronary Drug Project Research, 1980; Cramer, 2002; Avorn, 2006; Simpson *et al.*, 2006; Abbott-Mitchell, 2007; Cramer *et al.*, 2008) and are in agreement with the intuitive perception that good compliance results in a better effect of any given treatment. Future studies evaluating methods to ensure good compliance to treatment are necessary.

Publication

3. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28888591

Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Vojtassakova D, de Alvarado M, Kapeti E, Rehal A, Pazos A *et al.* Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: influence of compliance on beneficial effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;217: 685 e685.

5.4. Subgroup analyses according to maternal characteristics and medical history

This section includes a publication in which we performed a secondary analysis of the ASPRE trial (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017b) to examine whether there are differences in the effect of aspirin on the incidence of preterm PE according to maternal characteristics and medical history (Poon *et al.*, 2017). Subgroup analyses were performed to assess evidence of differences in the effect of aspirin in subgroups of maternal age (< 30 and \geq 30 years), BMI (< 25 and \geq 25 kg/m²), ethnic background, method of conception, cigarette smoking, family history of PE, and history of chronic hypertension.

Interaction tests were performed on the full dataset of patients in the intentionto-treat population, as well as on the subgroup of patients with good adherence to treatment (\geq 90% of the tablets consumed), with a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. There was no evidence of heterogeneity in the aspirin effect in subgroups according to maternal characteristics and obstetric history. However, in patients with chronic hypertension, there was no evidence of reduction in the incidence of superimposed PE requiring delivery before 37 weeks of gestation, neither in the full dataset (10.2% in the aspirin group, 8.2% in the placebo group, adjusted OR 1.29, 95% CI 0.33-5.12), nor in the good adherence to treatment subgroup (adjusted OR 2.06, 95% CI 0.40-10.71). The test of interaction was highly significant in the subgroup with chronic hypertension and good compliance. Patients without chronic hypertension and with good adherence to treatment had a 95% reduction in the incidence of preterm PE (adjusted OR 0.05, 95% CI 0.01-0.41).

Regarding the biological plausibility, there is some evidence of differences between chronic hypertension and other factors in the pathogenesis of PE. Chronic hypertension, found in 1-2% of pregnancies, is the strongest risk factor for PE compared to other factors in maternal demographic characteristics and medical history (Wright *et al.*, 2015b). The results of this study suggest that the beneficial effect of aspirin may not apply to women with chronic hypertension, favouring the hypothesis that in this group of patients an impaired cardiovascular system may be implicated in the origin of the disease (Kalafat and Thilaganathan, 2017). In chronic

hypertension, there is endothelial dysfunction and inflammation even before pregnancy and it is possible that in this condition PE can develop in the absence or less severe degree of impaired placentation because the pre-existing endothelial dysfunction is exacerbated by the physiological changes of pregnancy (Roberts and Hubel, 2009; Brandes, 2014; Panaitescu *et al.*, 2017).

Strengths and limitations

The main limitation of this study is that it consists of a secondary analysis of the ASPRE trial, which was powered for a global test of the aspirin effect in a highrisk population. Subgroup analyses will inherently have lower statistical power, and only more substantial interaction effects are likely to be identified. Furthermore, this problem is exacerbated by the need to account for multiple comparisons using a conservative technique such as Bonferroni correction. It is reassuring that the effect of aspirin was consistent across maternal characteristics and history factors other than chronic hypertension, but the broad confidence intervals do not allow the exclusion of other clinically important interaction effects.

More studies are needed to investigate novel treatments in women with chronic hypertension and for the prevention of term PE, and to identify high-risk women who do not benefit from aspirin intake. Ongoing trials are now evaluating the possible beneficial effect of pravastatin, metformin and esomeprazole in the prevention of PE.

Publication

4. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28784417

Poon LC, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Leipold G, Akolekar R, Shearing S, De Stefani L *et al.* Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia in subgroups of women according to their characteristics and medical and obstetrical history. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;217: 585 e581-585 e585.

5.5. Effect of aspirin on the length of stay in the neonatal intensive care unit

In the ASPRE trial, the use of aspirin significantly reduced the incidence of preterm PE by more than 60% when compared to placebo (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017b). Surprisingly, however, despite the reduction in the incidence of PE, the rate of admission to the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) was not significantly affected (OR 0.93, 95% CI 0.62-1.40).

In the publication included in this section (Wright *et al.*, 2018), we report a secondary analysis of the impact of treatment with aspirin on the length of stay in NICU. In the trial, there were 1,620 participants included in the final analysis, and these pregnancies resulted in 1,571 live births. The total length of stay in NICU was compared between the two intervention groups, as were the average lengths of stay in NICU among infants that were admitted and in the whole trial population (defining length of stay in NICU as zero days for infants who were not admitted to NICU). Bootstrapping was used for the comparison of the mean length of stay.

The total length of stay was substantially longer in the placebo group than in the aspirin group (1,696 and 531 days, respectively). The mean duration of stay among infants admitted to NICU was 31.4 days in the placebo group and 11.1 days in the aspirin group, a mean difference of 20.3 days (95% CI 7.0-38.6, p=0.008). This difference was mainly due to the reduction of PE requiring delivery before 32 weeks of gestation, which contributed to 83.3% of the total length of stay in NICU. Overall, in the whole population, including zero lengths of stay for those that were not admitted to NICU, the mean length of stay was longer in the placebo than aspirin group (2.06 vs 0.66 days; reduction of 1.4 days [95% CI 0.45-2.81; p=0.014]). This corresponds to a reduction in length of stay of 68% (95% CI 20-86%). Since babies may be admitted to NICU for observation only and soon be discharged, length of stay is probably a better indicator of morbidity and, perhaps, predictor of long-term adverse outcomes.

In a population of 10,000 pregnancies undergoing first-trimester screening for PE, 1,000 women would be classified as high risk with the expected screen-positive rate of 10%. Had these high-risk women not received aspirin, the expected total

length of stay in NICU would be 2,060 days, whereas if they had, the expected total length of stay in NICU would be 660 days. If the daily cost of the stay in NICU were £2,000, the cost saving from such care by a policy of screening 10,000 pregnancies and treating the high-risk group with aspirin would be £2,000 x (2,060 - 660) =£2,800,000. This is equivalent to £280 per patient screened, which is well in excess of the cost of screening and treating with aspirin. This calculation is based only on the reduction of length of admission in NICU, without considering a possible reduction in other prematurity-associated adverse neonatal outcomes that carry a significant burden, such as chronic lung disease and cerebral palsy.

Although it is difficult to estimate the cost-effectiveness of a policy of screening while the effect of such policy on neonatal outcomes is not wellestablished in the literature, a cost-effectiveness study published in 2012 demonstrated that screening would be cost-effective under various scenarios (Shmueli *et al.*, 2012). Another recent study found screening and subsequent treatment of high-risk patients to be cost-saving when compared to absence of screening (Ortved *et al.*, 2018).

Effective first-trimester screening is provided by a combination of maternal demographic characteristics and medical history, and measurement of MAP, UtPI and PLGF. Recording of medical history and measurement of BP are an integral part of current prenatal care. The marginal cost of PLGF in a screening scenario, when the equipment is already in place, is estimated at £10 per patient. Measurement of UtPI can be carried out by the same sonographers and ultrasound machines used for the routine scan at 11 to 13 weeks of gestation; however, the sonographers will require training, and the measurement would add two to three minutes to the current 20-30 minutes used for the scan.

Strengths and limitations

This was a secondary analysis of the ASPRE study. The trial was powered to detect differences between the treatment arms on the incidence of the primary outcome (preterm PE). Therefore, the statistical power for the detection of less

common outcomes, such as admission to NICU and length of stay in this unit is inevitably poor.

The findings that infants born before 32 weeks of gestation contributed to more than 80% of the total length of stay in NICU, that the incidence of delivery before 32 weeks was lower in the aspirin group and that, as a consequence, the total length of stay in NICU was substantially reduced in the aspirin group are not surprising.

Future trials, powered for specific neonatal outcomes, as well as long-term follow-up studies and meta-analyses, will be important to demonstrate the effect of aspirin in improving other neonatal outcomes due to the reduction of iatrogenic extreme prematurity.

Publication

5. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29505771

Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Machuca M, de Alvarado M, Mastrodima S, Tan MY, Shearing S, Persico N et al. Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin on length of stay in the neonatal intensive care unit. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2018;218: 612 e611-612 e616.

6. Arguments against universal prophylaxis with aspirin

With increasing evidence that aspirin reduces the incidence of preterm PE and the publication of the results of the ASPRE trial (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017b), there is now little doubt as to its beneficial effect in pregnancies at high risk for PE. For this reason, some authors have been suggesting that, given the clear benefit, the low cost and the favourable safety profile of aspirin, this medication should be given to all pregnant women (Werner *et al.*, 2015; Mone *et al.*, 2017), arguing that the screening test is complex and expensive.

In a recent editorial (Rolnik *et al.*, 2017a), we have summarised the main findings of the literature on this matter along with the results of the ASPRE study, highlighting some of the issues that would be faced in a policy of universal prophylaxis:

- Efficacy: Aspirin is highly effective in reducing preterm PE when given to women at increased risk from before 16 weeks of gestation and at doses higher than 100 mg. Consistent evidence concerning its efficacy in the general obstetric population including low-risk women is currently lacking. In fact, the results of the ASPRE trial indicate that the number needed to treat (NNT) when aspirin is given to women identified as being at high risk is 38. If we gave aspirin to all pregnant women regardless of their risk and assumed that efficacy and compliance would be maintained within the general obstetric population, which is unlikely, the NNT would be 202. Preterm PE affects 0.7% to 0.8% of the pregnancies (O'Gorman *et al.*, 2017a; Rolnik *et al.*, 2017c), and more than 99% of the women would not benefit from aspirin use.
- Adherence to treatment: Very few studies evaluated adherence to treatment among women without a perceived high risk for developing PE. Nevertheless, pregnant women are naturally reluctant to take medication unnecessarily or in the absence of a significant risk factor for adverse pregnancy outcome, due to concerns regarding safety for the fetus (Nordeng *et al.*, 2010; Lynch *et al.*, 2018). A randomised trial in which aspirin or placebo were given to nulliparous women with no other risk factors listed as inclusion criteria reported poorer compliance rates (Subtil *et al.*, 2003). Another trial that recruited 3,647 of all women attending antenatal clinics between 12 and 32 weeks of gestation reported that only 55% of the participants had compliance above 80% (Rotchell *et al.*, 1998).

Long-term safety: The vast majority of the studies performed to date, including • the ASPRE trial, have not shown an increase in serious side-effects or adverse events for both the mother and the child, and aspirin is considered a safe medication in pregnancy. However, information on long-term outcomes for women exposed to aspirin in pregnancy and their children is scarce. Although a previous study has shown no increase in mortality at two years of age with the use of aspirin at a daily dose of 60 mg throughout pregnancy (CLASP Collaborative Group, 1995), other authors have raised concerns regarding long-term outcomes for the infant in observational studies, but these findings may have been subjected to biases due to the influence of confounders (Petersen et al., 2018). In non-pregnant adults, long-term use of aspirin has been shown to increase the incidence of haemorrhagic events (De Berardis et al., 2012), and a recent meta-analysis has shown a possible hazardous effect of aspirin in increasing the risk of placental abruption when the medication is initiated after 16 weeks of gestation (Roberge et al., 2018b).

For the reasons mentioned above, caution is recommended, and the widespread prescription of aspirin to millions of pregnant women without targeting a specific high-risk population should be avoided.

7. Cell-free DNA in screening for preeclampsia

This chapter is based on two publications. Numerous studies have been investigating new markers that may enhance predictive algorithms in the near future. Given that predictive algorithms detect about 75% of the cases of preterm PE, there is room for improvement. Although new markers might be different in patients with PE compared to normotensive controls, their effects on predictive models need to be tested in combination with established markers with which they may interact and overlap.

Several studies have reported that in patients with established PE both total and fetal cell-free DNA are higher than in normotensive controls (Lo *et al.*, 1999; Zhong *et al.*, 2001; Alberry *et al.*, 2009; Miranda *et al.*, 2013; Zeybek *et al.*, 2013), possibly due to accelerated apoptosis of placental cells in cases of PE. Following the discovery of fetal DNA on maternal blood (Lo *et al.*, 1997), cell-free fetal DNA testing has been rapidly incorporated into clinical practice due to its high accuracy in detecting fetal chromosomal abnormalities. Higher incidence of PE was also found among patients with failed cell-free DNA test due to a low fetal fraction (Chan *et al.*, 2017). There is conflicting data as to whether these altered levels precede the onset of the disease (Martin *et al.*, 2014).

In the first study, published in 2015, we performed a case-control study of 20 cases of early PE, 20 cases of late PE and 200 normotensive controls, in which neither the quantities of cell-free DNA nor the fetal fraction were different in patients who developed PE compared to normotensive controls after adjustment for confounders (Rolnik *et al.*, 2015).

In a larger cohort study, however, our group demonstrated a clear association of fetal fraction with first trimester markers for PE and predicted risks (Rolnik *et al.*, 2018), even after adjustment for maternal characteristics and gestational age. This suggests that fetal fraction on cell-free DNA testing also reflects placentation. However, the degree of overlap with other markers and a possible role of incorporating cell-free DNA or fetal fraction into predictive models are yet to be determined. The possibility of using this test in patients undergoing cell-free DNA testing for aneuploidies screening instead of first trimester combined screening should be addressed in future research.

Strengths and limitations

In the case-control study, the number of pregnancies affected by PE may be inadequate for concluding that cell-free DNA levels are not altered in all types of PE.

The second study, despite the large number and the associations found, is retrospective in nature and did not include pregnancy outcomes. Therefore, no conclusions regarding differences in cell-free DNA between patients who developed PE and normotensive controls can be drawn.

The search for new markers remains the focus of several studies, and with the increasing use of cell-free DNA testing for aneuploidy screening, the potential role of this test in improving current predictive algorithms should be explored further.

Publications

1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25252010

Rolnik DL, O'Gorman N, Fiolna M, van den Boom D, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Maternal plasma cell-free DNA in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2015;45: 106-111.

2. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29318732

Rolnik DL, da Silva Costa F, Lee TJ, Schmid M, McLennan AC. Association between fetal fraction on cell-free DNA testing and first trimester markers for preeclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2018, DOI 10.1002/uog.18993.

8. Conclusions and future perspectives

8.1. Clinical implementation of screening and recommendations for clinical practice

The clinical implementation of first-trimester combined screening for PE requires specific training for MAP and UtPI measurements and testing PLGF on maternal blood, but the addition of these biomarkers would lead to a minimal increase in costs in settings where first-trimester combined screening for chromosomal abnormalities is routinely performed.

Different combinations of markers with partial models of screening can be used with reasonable detection rates in low-resource settings where applying the full algorithm may be challenging. In settings where analysing maternal serum biochemistry is challenging, for instance, a combination of maternal history with biophysical markers such as MAP can lead to reasonable detection rates. Similar to screening for chromosomal abnormalities, a quality assurance process for biomarkers measurement should be in place, and the cut-off selected by different health systems may vary depending on the resources and the baseline risk of PE in a given population.

Aspirin at doses of less than 100 mg does not seem to be effective in the prevention of preterm PE and therefore the daily dose used should be higher than 100 mg (ideally 150 mg daily). Because the standard dose varies from country to country, adjustments may be necessary. For example, in the UK, where the standard dose is 75 mg, and in the USA, where the standard dose is 81 mg, two tablets can be taken daily. In countries where the standard dose is 100 mg, the daily recommended intake should be one tablet or one tablet and a half.

For successful clinical implementation, it is crucial to achieve a global consensus regarding screening, dose and timing of aspirin prescription in light of the emerging body of evidence.

8.2. Future studies

Identifying which maternal characteristics predict poor response to aspirin and research on new preventive measures will be essential to find alternative treatments for this specific group and for women with chronic hypertension. Additionally, term PE is responsible for the majority of the burden of the disease, as this form of PE is more common than preterm PE (Duley, 2009; Bahado-Singh *et al.*, 2017). Its prediction is poor (Akolekar *et al.*, 2013; O'Gorman *et al.*, 2016b) and its incidence is not reduced by aspirin intake (Roberge *et al.*, 2012b; Rolnik *et al.*, 2017b). Therefore, new predictive markers for term PE and novel preventive strategies, including the use of pravastatin, metformin and proton-pump inhibitors such as esomeprazole are subject of ongoing research (Cluver *et al.*, 2015; Brownfoot *et al.*, 2016b; Syngelaki *et al.*, 2016; Girardi, 2017; Kaitu'u-Lino *et al.*, 2018).

In summary, further research needs to be undertaken to identify women with poor response to aspirin, to improve the prediction of term PE and to investigate new preventive strategies for term PE and for PE in women with chronic hypertension.

8.3. Final considerations

Preeclampsia is a serious complication of pregnancy, and a significant proportion of the cases that will require premature delivery can be identified in the first trimester through a screening test that combines maternal characteristics, medical history and biophysical and biochemical markers. This approach is superior to current guidelines based on maternal characteristics and history alone.

The ASPRE trial is a landmark study in the investigation of screening and prevention of preeclampsia. It was well designed and the first multicentre trial to apply combined screening in a large population. The intervention was carefully chosen considering the latest evidence. Its impact is reflected in the publication of the results in a high impact medical journal, the large number of citations in a short period time and, above all, in the changes in clinical practice worldwide. Aspirin, at a daily dose of 150 mg and given to high-risk patients from 11 to 14 weeks until 36 weeks of gestation, reduces the incidence of the severe forms of PE that require premature delivery and, as a consequence, the length of stay in NICU, saving costs that clearly exceed the cost of screening. The effect of the medication, unsurprisingly, depends on the adherence to treatment and is questionable in patients with chronic hypertension.

Universal prophylaxis with aspirin that has been suggested in the literature is problematic, as it would probably result in low compliance and long-term safety data is currently lacking.

Further research is warranted to improve current predictive algorithms and to investigate new preventive measures for term PE, and for preterm PE in specific groups of women.

REFERENCES

1. Abbott-Mitchell V. Review: good adherence to drug therapy is associated with reduced mortality. *Evid Based Nurs* 2007;10: 24.

2. Ahmad S, Ahmed A. Elevated placental soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 inhibits angiogenesis in preeclampsia. *Circ Res* 2004;95: 884-891.

3. Akolekar R, de Cruz J, Foidart JM, Munaut C, Nicolaides KH. Maternal plasma soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 and free vascular endothelial growth factor at 11 to 13 weeks of gestation in preeclampsia. *Prenat Diagn* 2010;30: 191-197.

4. Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Poon L, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in early screening for preeclampsia by biophysical and biochemical markers. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2013;33: 8-15.

5. Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Sarquis R, Zvanca M, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of early, intermediate and late pre-eclampsia from maternal factors, biophysical and biochemical markers at 11-13 weeks. *Prenat Diagn* 2011;31: 66-74.

6. Akolekar R, Zaragoza E, Poon LC, Pepes S, Nicolaides KH. Maternal serum placental growth factor at 11 + 0 to 13 + 6 weeks of gestation in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2008;32: 732-739.

7. Al-Amin A, Rolnik DL, Black C, White A, Stolarek C, Brennecke S, da Silva Costa F. Accuracy of second trimester prediction of preterm preeclampsia by three different screening algorithms. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2018;58: 192-196.

8. Alberry MS, Maddocks DG, Hadi MA, Metawi H, Hunt LP, Abdel-Fattah SA, Avent ND, Soothill PW. Quantification of cell free fetal DNA in maternal plasma in normal pregnancies and in pregnancies with placental dysfunction. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2009;200: 98 e91-96.

9. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Hypertension in pregnancy. Report of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Hypertension in Pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 2013;122: 1122-1131.

10. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Committee Opinion No. 638: First-Trimester Risk Assessment for Early-Onset Preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol* 2015;126: e25-27.

11. Andrietti S, Carlucci S, Wright A, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Repeat measurements of uterine artery pulsatility index, mean arterial pressure and serum placental growth factor at 12, 22 and 32 weeks in prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017;50: 221-227.

12. Arngrimsson R, Bjornsson S, Geirsson RT, Bjornsson H, Walker JJ, Snaedal G. Genetic and familial predisposition to eclampsia and pre-eclampsia in a defined population. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1990;97: 762-769.

13. Askie LM, Duley L, Henderson-Smart DJ, Stewart LA, Group PC. Antiplatelet agents for prevention of pre-eclampsia: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. *Lancet* 2007;369: 1791-1798.

14. Avorn J. Review: good adherence (compared with poor adherence) to drug therapy is associated with a reduction in mortality. *ACP J Club* 2006;145: 80.

15. Bahado-Singh R, Poon LC, Yilmaz A, Syngelaki A, Turkoglu O, Kumar P, Kirma J, Allos M, Accurti V, Li J *et al.* Integrated Proteomic and Metabolomic prediction of Term Preeclampsia. *Sci Rep* 2017;7: 16189.

16. Beaufils M, Uzan S, Donsimoni R, Colau JC. Prevention of pre-eclampsia by early antiplatelet therapy. *Lancet* 1985;1: 840-842.

17. Bell MJ. A historical overview of preeclampsia-eclampsia. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2010;39: 510-518.

18. Benedetto C, Marozio L, Salton L, Maula V, Chieppa G, Massobrio M. Factor V Leiden and factor II G20210A in preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2002;81: 1095-1100.

19. Bersinger NA, Brizot ML, Johnson A, Snijders RJ, Abbott J, Schneider H, Nicolaides KH. First trimester maternal serum pregnancy-associated plasma protein A and pregnancy-specific beta 1-glycoprotein in fetal trisomies. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1994;101: 970-974.

20. Bianco A, Stone J, Lynch L, Lapinski R, Berkowitz G, Berkowitz RL. Pregnancy outcome at age 40 and older. *Obstet Gynecol* 1996;87: 917-922.

21. Branch DW, Andres R, Digre KB, Rote NS, Scott JR. The association of antiphospholipid antibodies with severe preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol* 1989;73: 541-545.

22. Brandes RP. Endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. *Hypertension* 2014;64: 924-928.

23. Brosens I, Robertson WB, Dixon HG. The physiological response of the vessels of the placental bed to normal pregnancy. *J Pathol Bacteriol* 1967;93: 569-579.

24. Brosens IA, Robertson WB, Dixon HG. The role of the spiral arteries in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol Annu* 1972;1: 177-191.

25. Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: statement from the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP). *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2001;20: IX-XIV.

26. Brownfoot FC, Hastie R, Hannan NJ, Cannon P, Tuohey L, Parry LJ, Senadheera S, Illanes SE, Kaitu'u-Lino TJ, Tong S. Metformin as a prevention and treatment for preeclampsia: effects on soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 and soluble endoglin secretion and endothelial dysfunction. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016a;214: 356 e351-356 e315.

27. Brownfoot FC, Tong S, Hannan NJ, Hastie R, Cannon P, Kaitu'u-Lino TJ. Effects of simvastatin, rosuvastatin and pravastatin on soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt-1) and soluble endoglin (sENG) secretion from human umbilical vein endothelial cells, primary trophoblast cells and placenta. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2016b;16: 117.

28. Brunelli VB, Prefumo F. Quality of first trimester risk prediction models for pre-eclampsia: a systematic review. *BJOG* 2015;122: 904-914.

29. Bujold E, Roberge S, Lacasse Y, Bureau M, Audibert F, Marcoux S, Forest JC, Giguere Y. Prevention of preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction with aspirin started in early pregnancy: a meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2010;116: 402-414.
30. Bujold E, Roberge S, Nicolaides KH. Low-dose aspirin for prevention of adverse outcomes related to abnormal placentation. *Prenat Diagn* 2014;34: 642-648.

31. Bussolino F, Benveniste J. Pharmacological modulation of platelet-activating factor (PAF) release from rabbit leucocytes. I. Role of cAMP. *Immunology* 1980;40: 367-376.

32. Bussolino F, Camussi G. Effect of prostacyclin on platelet-activating factor induced rabbit and platelet aggregation. *Prostaglandins* 1980;20: 781-791.

33. Campbell DM, MacGillivray I, Carr-Hill R. Pre-eclampsia in second pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1985;92: 131-140.

34. Campbell S, Diaz-Recasens J, Griffin DR, Cohen-Overbeek TE, Pearce JM, Willson K, Teague MJ. New doppler technique for assessing uteroplacental blood flow. *Lancet* 1983;1: 675-677.

35. Cappuccio FP. Ethnicity and cardiovascular risk: variations in people of African ancestry and South Asian origin. *J Hum Hypertens* 1997;11: 571-576.

36. Cappuccio FP, Cook DG, Atkinson RW, Strazzullo P. Prevalence, detection, and management of cardiovascular risk factors in different ethnic groups in south London. *Heart* 1997;78: 555-563.

37. Caron N, Rivard GE, Michon N, Morin F, Pilon D, Moutquin JM, Rey E. Low-dose ASA response using the PFA-100 in women with high-risk pregnancy. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can* 2009;31: 1022-1027.

38. Catov JM, Ness RB, Kip KE, Olsen J. Risk of early or severe pre-eclampsia related to pre-existing conditions. *Int J Epidemiol* 2007;36: 412-419.

39. Caughey AB, Stotland NE, Washington AE, Escobar GJ. Maternal ethnicity, paternal ethnicity, and parental ethnic discordance: predictors of preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;106: 156-161.

40. Chan N, Smet ME, Sandow R, da Silva Costa F, McLennan A. Implications of failure to achieve a result from prenatal maternal serum cell-free DNA testing: a historical cohort study. *BJOG* 2017, DOI 10.1111/1471-0528.15006.

41. Chesley LC. History and epidemiology of preeclampsia-eclampsia. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* 1984;27: 801-820.

42. Chesley LC, Cooper DW. Genetics of hypertension in pregnancy: possible single gene control of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia in the descendants of eclamptic women. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1986;93: 898-908.

43. Christensen M, Kronborg CS, Carlsen RK, Eldrup N, Knudsen UB. Early gestational age at preeclampsia onset is associated with subclinical atherosclerosis 12 years after delivery. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2017;96: 1084-1092.

44. Cincotta RB, Brennecke SP. Family history of pre-eclampsia as a predictor for pre-eclampsia in primigravidas. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 1998;60: 23-27.

45. Cindrova-Davies T, Yung HW, Johns J, Spasic-Boskovic O, Korolchuk S, Jauniaux E, Burton GJ, Charnock-Jones DS. Oxidative stress, gene expression, and protein changes induced in the human placenta during labor. *Am J Pathol* 2007;171: 1168-1179.

46. Cirillo PM, Cohn BA. Pregnancy complications and cardiovascular disease death: 50year follow-up of the Child Health and Development Studies pregnancy cohort. *Circulation* 2015;132: 1234-1242.

47. CLASP Collaborative Group. CLASP: a randomised trial of low-dose aspirin for the prevention and treatment of pre-eclampsia among 9364 pregnant women. CLASP (Collaborative Low-dose Aspirin Study in Pregnancy) Collaborative Group. *Lancet* 1994;343: 619-629.

48. CLASP Collaborative Group. Low dose aspirin in pregnancy and early childhood development: follow up of the collaborative low dose aspirin study in pregnancy. CLASP Collaborative Group. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1995;102: 861-868.

49. Cluver CA, Walker SP, Mol BW, Theron GB, Hall DR, Hiscock R, Hannan N, Tong S. Double blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial to evaluate the efficacy of esomeprazole to treat early onset pre-eclampsia (PIE Trial): a study protocol. *BMJ Open* 2015;5: e008211.

50. Conde-Agudelo A, Belizan JM. Maternal morbidity and mortality associated with interpregnancy interval: cross sectional study. *BMJ* 2000a;321: 1255-1259.

51. Conde-Agudelo A, Belizan JM. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia in a large cohort of Latin American and Caribbean women. *BJOG* 2000b;107: 75-83.

52. Cooper DW, Liston WA. Genetic control of severe pre-eclampsia. *J Med Genet* 1979;16: 409-416.

53. Cormick G, Betran AP, Ciapponi A, Hall DR, Hofmeyr GJ, calcium, Pre-eclampsia Study G. Inter-pregnancy interval and risk of recurrent pre-eclampsia: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Reprod Health* 2016;13: 83.

54. Coronary Drug Project Research G. Influence of adherence to treatment and response of cholesterol on mortality in the coronary drug project. *N Engl J Med* 1980;303: 1038-1041.

55. Cramer JA. Effect of partial compliance on cardiovascular medication effectiveness. *Heart* 2002;88: 203-206.

56. Cramer JA, Benedict A, Muszbek N, Keskinaslan A, Khan ZM. The significance of compliance and persistence in the treatment of diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidaemia: a review. *Int J Clin Pract* 2008;62: 76-87.

57. Crandon AJ, Isherwood DM. Effect of aspirin on incidence of pre-eclampsia. *Lancet* 1979;1: 1356.

58. Crovetto F, Somigliana E, Peguero A, Figueras F. Stroke during pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 2013;25: 425-432.

59. Davey DA, MacGillivray I. The classification and definition of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1988;158: 892-898.

60. De Berardis G, Lucisano G, D'Ettorre A, Pellegrini F, Lepore V, Tognoni G, Nicolucci A. Association of aspirin use with major bleeding in patients with and without diabetes. *JAMA* 2012;307: 2286-2294.

61. Dekker GA, Robillard PY, Hulsey TC. Immune maladaptation in the etiology of preeclampsia: a review of corroborative epidemiologic studies. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* 1998;53: 377-382.

62. Dekker GA, Sibai BM. Etiology and pathogenesis of preeclampsia: current concepts. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1998;179: 1359-1375.

63. Dreyfus M, Hedelin G, Kutnahorsky R, Lehmann M, Viville B, Langer B, Fleury A, M'Barek M, Treisser A, Wiesel ML *et al.* Antiphospholipid antibodies and preeclampsia: a case-control study. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001;97: 29-34.

64. Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: systematic review of controlled studies. *BMJ* 2005;330: 565.

65. Dugoff L, Hobbins JC, Malone FD, Porter TF, Luthy D, Comstock CH, Hankins G, Berkowitz RL, Merkatz I, Craigo SD *et al.* First-trimester maternal serum PAPP-A and freebeta subunit human chorionic gonadotropin concentrations and nuchal translucency are associated with obstetric complications: a population-based screening study (the FASTER Trial). *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2004;191: 1446-1451.

66. Duley L. The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. *Semin Perinatol* 2009;33: 130-137.

67. Duley L, Henderson-Smart D, Knight M, King J. Antiplatelet drugs for prevention of preeclampsia and its consequences: systematic review. *BMJ* 2001;322: 329-333.

68. Durst JK, Tuuli MG, Stout MJ, Macones GA, Cahill AG. Degree of obesity at delivery and risk of preeclampsia with severe features. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;214: 651 e651-655.

69. Ebers G. Ebers Papyrus.

http://web.archive.org/web/20130921055114/http://oilib.uchicago.edu/books/bryan_the_papy rus_ebers_1930.pdf. [Accessed 29th of March 2018].

70. Fong FM, Sahemey MK, Hamedi G, Eyitayo R, Yates D, Kuan V, Thangaratinam S, Walton RT. Maternal genotype and severe preeclampsia: a HuGE review. *Am J Epidemiol* 2014;180: 335-345.

71. Frusca T, Morassi L, Pecorelli S, Grigolato P, Gastaldi A. Histological features of uteroplacental vessels in normal and hypertensive patients in relation to birthweight. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1989;96: 835-839.

72. Gabbay-Benziv R, Oliveira N, Baschat AA. Optimal first trimester preeclampsia prediction: a comparison of multimarker algorithm, risk profiles and their sequential application. *Prenat Diagn* 2016;36: 34-39.

73. Gallo DM, Wright D, Casanova C, Campanero M, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in screening for preeclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 19-24 weeks' gestation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;214: 619 e611-619 e617.

74. Garner PR, D'Alton ME, Dudley DK, Huard P, Hardie M. Preeclampsia in diabetic pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1990;163: 505-508.

75. Gervasi MT, Chaiworapongsa T, Pacora P, Naccasha N, Yoon BH, Maymon E, Romero R. Phenotypic and metabolic characteristics of monocytes and granulocytes in preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001;185: 792-797.

76. Ghidini A, Salafia CM, Pezzullo JC. Placental vascular lesions and likelihood of diagnosis of preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol* 1997;90: 542-545.

77. Girardi G. Pravastatin to treat and prevent preeclampsia. Preclinical and clinical studies. *J Reprod Immunol* 2017;124: 15-20.

78. Goodlin RC, Haesslein HO, Fleming J. Aspirin for the treatment of recurrent toxaemia. *Lancet* 1978;2: 51.

79. Gross K, Alba S, Glass TR, Schellenberg JA, Obrist B. Timing of antenatal care for adolescent and adult pregnant women in south-eastern Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2012;12: 16.

80. Hamilton WJ, Boyd JD. Development of the human placenta in the first three months of gestation. *J Anat* 1960;94: 297-328.

81. Harutyunyan A, Armenian H, Petrosyan V. Interbirth interval and history of previous preeclampsia: a case-control study among multiparous women. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2013;13: 244.

82. Heiskanen J, Romppanen EL, Hiltunen M, livonen S, Mannermaa A, Punnonen K, Heinonen S. Polymorphism in the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene in women with preeclampsia. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 2002;19: 220-223.

83. Hiby SE, Regan L, Lo W, Farrell L, Carrington M, Moffett A. Association of maternal killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors and parental HLA-C genotypes with recurrent miscarriage. *Hum Reprod* 2008;23: 972-976.

84. Higgins JR, Walshe JJ, Halligan A, O'Brien E, Conroy R, Darling MR. Can 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure measurement predict the development of hypertension in primigravidae? *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1997;104: 356-362.

85. Huppertz B. Placental origins of preeclampsia: challenging the current hypothesis. *Hypertension* 2008;51: 970-975.

86. Jackson RA, Gibson KA, Wu YW, Croughan MS. Perinatal outcomes in singletons following in vitro fertilization: a meta-analysis. *Obstet Gynecol* 2004;103: 551-563.

87. Kagan KO, Wright D, Valencia C, Maiz N, Nicolaides KH. Screening for trisomies 21, 18 and 13 by maternal age, fetal nuchal translucency, fetal heart rate, free beta-hCG and pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A. *Hum Reprod* 2008;23: 1968-1975.

88. Kaitu'u-Lino TJ, Brownfoot FC, Beard S, Cannon P, Hastie R, Nguyen TV, Binder NK, Tong S, Hannan NJ. Combining metformin and esomeprazole is additive in reducing sFlt-1 secretion and decreasing endothelial dysfunction - implications for treating preeclampsia. *PLoS One* 2018;13: e0188845.

89. Kalafat E, Thilaganathan B. Cardiovascular origins of preeclampsia. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 2017;29: 383-389.

90. Kalbfleisch JD, Prentice RL. *The statistical analysis of failure time data.* 2nd edition, 2002. Wiley, New York.

91. Kaminopetros P, Higueras MT, Nicolaides KH. Doppler study of uterine artery blood flow: comparison of findings in the first and second trimesters of pregnancy. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 1991;6: 58-64.

92. Kendall RL, Thomas KA. Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993;90: 10705-10709.

93. Khalil A, Maiz N, Garcia-Mandujano R, Penco JM, Nicolaides KH. Longitudinal changes in maternal serum placental growth factor and soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 in women at increased risk of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2016;47: 324-331.

94. Khalil A, Rezende J, Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Nicolaides KH. Maternal racial origin and adverse pregnancy outcome: a cohort study. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2013;41: 278-285.

95. Khong TY, De Wolf F, Robertson WB, Brosens I. Inadequate maternal vascular response to placentation in pregnancies complicated by pre-eclampsia and by small-forgestational age infants. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1986;93: 1049-1059.

96. Kleinrouweler CE, Cheong-See FM, Collins GS, Kwee A, Thangaratinam S, Khan KS, Mol BW, Pajkrt E, Moons KG, Schuit E. Prognostic models in obstetrics: available, but far from applicable. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;214: 79-90 e36.

97. Knuist M, Bonsel GJ, Zondervan HA, Treffers PE. Risk factors for preeclampsia in nulliparous women in distinct ethnic groups: a prospective cohort study. *Obstet Gynecol* 1998;92: 174-178.

98. Koonin LM, MacKay AP, Berg CJ, Atrash HK, Smith JC. Pregnancy-related mortality surveillance--United States, 1987-1990. *MMWR CDC Surveill Summ* 1997;46: 17-36.

99. Kuklina EV, Ayala C, Callaghan WM. Hypertensive disorders and severe obstetric morbidity in the United States. *Obstet Gynecol* 2009;113: 1299-1306.

100. Lachmeijer AM, Arngrimsson R, Bastiaans EJ, Frigge ML, Pals G, Sigurdardottir S, Stefansson H, Palsson B, Nicolae D, Kong A *et al.* A genome-wide scan for preeclampsia in the Netherlands. *Eur J Hum Genet* 2001a;9: 758-764.

101. Lachmeijer AM, Arngrimsson R, Bastiaans EJ, Pals G, ten Kate LP, de Vries JI, Kostense PJ, Aarnoudse JG, Dekker GA. Mutations in the gene for methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, homocysteine levels, and vitamin status in women with a history of preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001b;184: 394-402.

102. Lachmeijer AM, Crusius JB, Pals G, Dekker GA, Arngrimsson R, ten Kate LP. Polymorphisms in the tumor necrosis factor and lymphotoxin-alpha gene region and preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol* 2001c;98: 612-619.

103. Lai J, Garcia-Tizon Larroca S, Peeva G, Poon LC, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in screening for preeclampsia by serum placental growth factor and soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 at 30-33 weeks' gestation. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2014;35: 240-248.

104. Lai J, Pinas A, Poon LC, Agathokleous M, Nicolaides KH. Maternal serum placental growth factor, pregnancy-associated plasma protein-a and free beta-human chorionic gonadotrophin at 30-33 weeks in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2013;33: 164-172.

105. Lash GE, Naruse K, Robson A, Innes BA, Searle RF, Robson SC, Bulmer JN. Interaction between uterine natural killer cells and extravillous trophoblast cells: effect on cytokine and angiogenic growth factor production. *Hum Reprod* 2011;26: 2289-2295.

106. Lawoyin TO, Ani F. Epidemiologic aspects of pre-eclampsia in Saudi Arabia. *East Afr Med J* 1996;73: 404-406.

107. Lee CJ, Hsieh TT, Chiu TH, Chen KC, Lo LM, Hung TH. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia in an Asian population. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* 2000;70: 327-333.

108. Levine RJ, Maynard SE, Qian C, Lim KH, England LJ, Yu KF, Schisterman EF, Thadhani R, Sachs BP, Epstein FH *et al.* Circulating angiogenic factors and the risk of preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med* 2004;350: 672-683.

109. Litwinska M, Wright D, Efeturk T, Ceccacci I, Nicolaides KH. Proposed clinical management of pregnancies after combined screening for pre-eclampsia at 19-24 weeks' gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017;50: 367-372.

110. Lo YM, Corbetta N, Chamberlain PF, Rai V, Sargent IL, Redman CW, Wainscoat JS. Presence of fetal DNA in maternal plasma and serum. *Lancet* 1997;350: 485-487.

111. Lo YM, Leung TN, Tein MS, Sargent IL, Zhang J, Lau TK, Haines CJ, Redman CW. Quantitative abnormalities of fetal DNA in maternal serum in preeclampsia. *Clin Chem* 1999;45: 184-188.

112. Lobo GAR, Nowak PM, Panigassi AP, Lima AIF, Araujo Junior E, Nardozza LMM, Pares DBS. Validation of Fetal Medicine Foundation algorithm for prediction of preeclampsia in the first trimester in an unselected Brazilian population. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2017, DOI 10.1080/14767058.2017.1378332: 1-7.

113. Luo ZC, An N, Xu HR, Larante A, Audibert F, Fraser WD. The effects and mechanisms of primiparity on the risk of pre-eclampsia: a systematic review. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2007;21 Suppl 1: 36-45.

114. Lyall F. The human placental bed revisited. *Placenta* 2002;23: 555-562.

115. Lynch MM, Squiers LB, Kosa KM, Dolina S, Read JG, Broussard CS, Frey MT, Polen KN, Lind JN, Gilboa SM *et al.* Making Decisions About Medication Use During Pregnancy: Implications for Communication Strategies. *Matern Child Health J* 2018;22: 92-100.

116. Maman E, Lunenfeld E, Levy A, Vardi H, Potashnik G. Obstetric outcome of singleton pregnancies conceived by in vitro fertilization and ovulation induction compared with those conceived spontaneously. *Fertil Steril* 1998;70: 240-245.

117. Markandu ND, Whitcher F, Arnold A, Carney C. The mercury sphygmomanometer should be abandoned before it is proscribed. *J Hum Hypertens* 2000;14: 31-36.

118. Marti JJ, Herrmann U. Immunogestosis: a new etiologic concept of "essential" EPH gestosis, with special consideration of the primigravid patient; preliminary report of a clinical study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1977;128: 489-493.

119. Martin A, Krishna I, Badell M, Samuel A. Can the quantity of cell-free fetal DNA predict preeclampsia: a systematic review. *Prenat Diagn* 2014;34: 685-691.

120. Martinell J, Jodal U, Lidin-Janson G. Pregnancies in women with and without renal scarring after urinary infections in childhood. *BMJ* 1990;300: 840-844.

121. Martinez-Varea A, Pellicer B, Perales-Marin A, Pellicer A. Relationship between maternal immunological response during pregnancy and onset of preeclampsia. *J Immunol Res* 2014;2014: 210241.

122. Maruotti GM, Sarno L, Napolitano R, Mazzarelli LL, Quaglia F, Capone A, Capuano A, Martinelli P. Preeclampsia in women with chronic kidney disease. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2012;25: 1367-1369.

123. Masoudian P, Nasr A, de Nanassy J, Fung-Kee-Fung K, Bainbridge SA, El Demellawy D. Oocyte donation pregnancies and the risk of preeclampsia or gestational hypertension: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016;214: 328-339.

124. Maynard SE, Min JY, Merchan J, Lim KH, Li J, Mondal S, Libermann TA, Morgan JP, Sellke FW, Stillman IE *et al.* Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. *J Clin Invest* 2003;111: 649-658.

125. Meekins JW, Pijnenborg R, Hanssens M, McFadyen IR, van Asshe A. A study of placental bed spiral arteries and trophoblast invasion in normal and severe pre-eclamptic pregnancies. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1994;101: 669-674.

126. Meher S, Duley L, Hunter K, Askie L. Antiplatelet therapy before or after 16 weeks' gestation for preventing preeclampsia: an individual participant data meta-analysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;216: 121-128 e122.

127. Miner J, Hoffhines A. The discovery of aspirin's antithrombotic effects. *Tex Heart Inst J* 2007;34: 179-186.

128. Ministry of Health Report. 1929 Memorandum on Antenatal Clinics: Their Conduct and Scope. London, His Majesty's Stationery Office. 1929.

129. Miranda ML, Macher HC, Munoz-Hernandez R, Vallejo-Vaz A, Moreno-Luna R, Villar J, Guerrero JM, Stiefel P. Role of circulating cell-free DNA levels in patients with severe preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. *Am J Hypertens* 2013;26: 1377-1380.

130. Mittendorf R, Lain KY, Williams MA, Walker CK. Preeclampsia. A nested, case-control study of risk factors and their interactions. *J Reprod Med* 1996;41: 491-496.

131. Moffett-King A. Natural killer cells and pregnancy. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002;2: 656-663.

132. Mone F, Mulcahy C, McParland P, McAuliffe FM. Should we recommend universal aspirin for all pregnant women? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;216: 141 e141-141 e145.

133. Morgan T, Ward K. New insights into the genetics of preeclampsia. *Semin Perinatol* 1999;23: 14-23.

134. Mostello D, Catlin TK, Roman L, Holcomb WL, Jr., Leet T. Preeclampsia in the parous woman: who is at risk? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2002;187: 425-429.

135. Moutquin JM, Rainville C, Giroux L, Raynauld P, Amyot G, Bilodeau R, Pelland N. A prospective study of blood pressure in pregnancy: prediction of preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1985;151: 191-196.

136. Muhwava LS, Morojele N, London L. Psychosocial factors associated with early initiation and frequency of antenatal care (ANC) visits in a rural and urban setting in South Africa: a cross-sectional survey. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2016;16: 18.

137. Murphy MS, Casselman RC, Smith GN. Postpartum alterations in circulating endothelial progenitor cells in women with a history of pre-eclampsia. *Pregnancy hypertension* 2013;3: 178-185.

138. Myatt L, Webster RP. Vascular biology of preeclampsia. *J Thromb Haemost* 2009;7: 375-384.

139. Navaratnam K, Alfirevic A, Alfirevic Z. Low dose aspirin and pregnancy: how important is aspirin resistance? *BJOG* 2016;123: 1481-1487.

140. Nicolaides KH. Turning the pyramid of prenatal care. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2011;29: 183-196.

141. Nordeng H, Koren G, Einarson A. Pregnant women's beliefs about medications--a study among 866 Norwegian women. *Ann Pharmacother* 2010;44: 1478-1484.

142. O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Alvarado M, Carbone IF, Dutemeyer V, Fiolna M, Frick A *et al.* Multicenter screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation: comparison with NICE guidelines and ACOG recommendations. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017a;49: 756-760.

143. O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Wright A, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Jani J *et al.* Accuracy of competing-risks model in screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017b;49: 751-755.

144. O'Gorman N, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Study protocol for the randomised controlled trial: combined multimarker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE). *BMJ Open* 2016a;6: e011801.

145. O'Gorman N, Wright D, Syngelaki A, Akolekar R, Wright A, Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in screening for preeclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks gestation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016b;214: 103 e101-103 e112.

146. Odibo AO, Goetzinger KR, Odibo L, Tuuli MG. Early prediction and aspirin for prevention of pre-eclampsia (EPAPP) study: a randomized controlled trial. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2015;46: 414-418.

147. Oliveira N, Magder LS, Blitzer MG, Baschat AA. First-trimester prediction of preeclampsia: external validity of algorithms in a prospectively enrolled cohort. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2014;44: 279-285.

148. Olofsson P, Laurini RN, Marsal K. A high uterine artery pulsatility index reflects a defective development of placental bed spiral arteries in pregnancies complicated by hypertension and fetal growth retardation. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 1993;49: 161-168.

149. Onwudiwe N, Yu CK, Poon LC, Spiliopoulos I, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of preeclampsia by a combination of maternal history, uterine artery Doppler and mean arterial pressure. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2008;32: 877-883. 150. Opdahl S, Henningsen AA, Tiitinen A, Bergh C, Pinborg A, Romundstad PR, Wennerholm UB, Gissler M, Skjaerven R, Romundstad LB. Risk of hypertensive disorders in pregnancies following assisted reproductive technology: a cohort study from the CoNARTaS group. *Hum Reprod* 2015;30: 1724-1731.

151. Ortved D, Hawkins TL, Johnson JA, Hyett J, Metcalfe A. The cost-effectiveness of first trimester screening and early preventative use of aspirin in women at high risk of early onset pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2018, DOI 10.1002/uog.19076.

152. Panagodage S, Yong HE, Da Silva Costa F, Borg AJ, Kalionis B, Brennecke SP, Murthi P. Low-Dose Acetylsalicylic Acid Treatment Modulates the Production of Cytokines and Improves Trophoblast Function in an in Vitro Model of Early-Onset Preeclampsia. *Am J Pathol* 2016;186: 3217-3224.

153. Panaitescu AM, Akolekar R, Kametas N, Syngelaki A, Nicolaides KH. Impaired placentation in women with chronic hypertension who develop pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017;50: 496-500.

154. Park F, Russo K, Williams P, Pelosi M, Puddephatt R, Walter M, Leung C, Saaid R, Rawashdeh H, Ogle R *et al.* Prediction and prevention of early-onset pre-eclampsia: impact of aspirin after first-trimester screening. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2015;46: 419-423.

155. Park FJ, Leung CH, Poon LC, Williams PF, Rothwell SJ, Hyett JA. Clinical evaluation of a first trimester algorithm predicting the risk of hypertensive disease of pregnancy. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* 2013;53: 532-539.

156. Pattison NS, Chamley LW, McKay EJ, Liggins GC, Butler WS. Antiphospholipid antibodies in pregnancy: prevalence and clinical associations. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1993;100: 909-913.

157. Petersen TG, Liew Z, Andersen AN, Andersen GL, Andersen PK, Martinussen T, Olsen J, Rebordosa C, Tollanes MC, Uldall P *et al.* Use of paracetamol, ibuprofen or aspirin in pregnancy and risk of cerebral palsy in the child. *Int J Epidemiol* 2018;47: 121-130.

158. Pijnenborg R, Anthony J, Davey DA, Rees A, Tiltman A, Vercruysse L, van Assche A. Placental bed spiral arteries in the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1991;98: 648-655.

159. Plasencia W, Barber MA, Alvarez EE, Segura J, Valle L, Garcia-Hernandez JA. Comparative study of transabdominal and transvaginal uterine artery Doppler pulsatility indices at 11-13 + 6 weeks. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2011;30: 414-420.

160. Plasencia W, Maiz N, Bonino S, Kaihura C, Nicolaides KH. Uterine artery Doppler at 11 + 0 to 13 + 6 weeks in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2007;30: 742-749.

161. Plasencia W, Maiz N, Poon L, Yu C, Nicolaides KH. Uterine artery Doppler at 11 + 0 to 13 + 6 weeks and 21 + 0 to 24 + 6 weeks in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2008;32: 138-146.

162. Poon LC, Kametas NA, Chelemen T, Leal A, Nicolaides KH. Maternal risk factors for hypertensive disorders in pregnancy: a multivariate approach. *J Hum Hypertens* 2010;24: 104-110.

163. Poon LC, Kametas NA, Maiz N, Akolekar R, Nicolaides KH. First-trimester prediction of hypertensive disorders in pregnancy. *Hypertension* 2009a;53: 812-818.

164. Poon LC, Kametas NA, Pandeva I, Valencia C, Nicolaides KH. Mean arterial pressure at 11(+0) to 13(+6) weeks in the prediction of preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 2008;51: 1027-1033.

165. Poon LC, Maiz N, Valencia C, Plasencia W, Nicolaides KH. First-trimester maternal serum pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A and pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2009b;33: 23-33.

166. Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Tan MY, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Akolekar R, Singh M, Andrade W, Efeturk T, Jani JC *et al.* ASPRE trial: incidence of preterm pre-eclampsia in patients fulfilling ACOG and NICE criteria according to risk by FMF algorithm. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2018;51: 738-742.

167. Poon LC, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Leipold G, Akolekar R, Shearing S, De Stefani L *et al.* Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia in subgroups of women according to their characteristics and medical and obstetrical history. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;217: 585 e581-585 e585.

168. Poon LC, Zymeri NA, Zamprakou A, Syngelaki A, Nicolaides KH. Protocol for measurement of mean arterial pressure at 11-13 weeks' gestation. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2012;31: 42-48.

169. Powe CE, Levine RJ, Karumanchi SA. Preeclampsia, a disease of the maternal endothelium: the role of antiangiogenic factors and implications for later cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 2011;123: 2856-2869.

170. Ramaraj R, Chellappa P. Cardiovascular risk in South Asians. *Postgrad Med J* 2008;84: 518-523.

171. Rana S, Hacker MR, Modest AM, Salahuddin S, Lim KH, Verlohren S, Perschel FH, Karumanchi SA. Circulating angiogenic factors and risk of adverse maternal and perinatal outcomes in twin pregnancies with suspected preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 2012;60: 451-458.

172. Redman CW. Immunological aspects of pre-eclampsia. *Baillieres Clin Obstet Gynaecol* 1992;6: 601-615.

173. Redman CW, Bonnar J, Beilin L. Early platelet consumption in pre-eclampsia. *Br Med J* 1978;1: 467-469.

174. Roberge S, Bujold E, Nicolaides KH. Aspirin for the prevention of preterm and term preeclampsia: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2018a;218: 287-293 e281.

175. Roberge S, Bujold E, Nicolaides KH. Meta-analysis on the effect of aspirin use for prevention of preeclampsia on placental abruption and antepartum hemorrhage. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2018b, DOI 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.12.238.

176. Roberge S, Demers S, Bujold E. Initiation of aspirin in early gestation for the prevention of pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* 2013a;120: 773-774.

177. Roberge S, Demers S, Bujold E. Low-dose aspirin for prevention of morbidity and mortality from preeclampsia. *Ann Intern Med* 2014;161: 613.

178. Roberge S, Demers S, Bujold E. Antiplatelet therapy before or after 16 weeks' gestation for preventing preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017a;216: 620-621.

179. Roberge S, Giguere Y, Villa P, Nicolaides K, Vainio M, Forest JC, von Dadelszen P, Vaiman D, Tapp S, Bujold E. Early administration of low-dose aspirin for the prevention of severe and mild preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Perinatol* 2012a;29: 551-556.

180. Roberge S, Nicolaides K, Demers S, Hyett J, Chaillet N, Bujold E. The role of aspirin dose on the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017b;216: 110-120 e116.

181. Roberge S, Nicolaides KH, Demers S, Villa P, Bujold E. Prevention of perinatal death and adverse perinatal outcome using low-dose aspirin: a meta-analysis. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2013b;41: 491-499.

182. Roberge S, Villa P, Nicolaides K, Giguere Y, Vainio M, Bakthi A, Ebrashy A, Bujold E. Early administration of low-dose aspirin for the prevention of preterm and term preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2012b;31: 141-146.

183. Roberts JM, Hubel CA. The two stage model of preeclampsia: variations on the theme. *Placenta* 2009;30 Suppl A: S32-37.

184. Robertson WB. Uteroplacental vasculature. *J Clin Pathol Suppl (R Coll Pathol)* 1976;10: 9-17.

185. Robertson WB, Brosens I, Dixon HG. The pathological response of the vessels of the placental bed to hypertensive pregnancy. *J Pathol Bacteriol* 1967;93: 581-592.

186. Robertson WB, Khong TY, Brosens I, De Wolf F, Sheppard BL, Bonnar J. The placental bed biopsy: review from three European centers. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1986;155: 401-412.

187. Robillard PY, Hulsey TC, Alexander GR, Keenan A, de Caunes F, Papiernik E. Paternity patterns and risk of preeclampsia in the last pregnancy in multiparae. *J Reprod Immunol* 1993;24: 1-12.

188. Rocha RS, Alves JAG, Maia EHMSB, Araujo Junior E, Peixoto AB, Santana EFM, Martins WP, Vasconcelos CTM, Da Silva Costa F, Oria MOB. Simple approach based on maternal characteristics and mean arterial pressure for the prediction of preeclampsia in the first trimester of pregnancy. *J Perinat Med* 2017;45: 843-849.

189. Rolnik DL, da Silva Costa F, Lee TJ, Schmid M, McLennan AC. Association between fetal fraction on cell-free DNA testing and first trimester markers for pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2018, DOI 10.1002/uog.18993.

190. Rolnik DL, O'Gorman N, Fiolna M, van den Boom D, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Maternal plasma cell-free DNA in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2015;45: 106-111.

191. Rolnik DL, O'Gorman N, Roberge S, Bujold E, Hyett J, Uzan S, Beaufils M, da Silva Costa F. Early screening and prevention of preterm pre-eclampsia with aspirin: time for clinical implementation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017a;50: 551-556.

192. Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LC, O'Gorman N, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M *et al.* Aspirin versus Placebo in Pregnancies at High Risk for Preterm Preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med* 2017b;377: 613-622.

193. Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LCY, Syngelaki A, O'Gorman N, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M *et al.* ASPRE trial: performance of screening for preterm pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2017c;50: 492-495.

194. Romero A, Muniain MA, Mata R, Pozuelo F, Perez JJ, Rodriguez MC, Rodriguez MD. [Effect of corticosteroids, quinacrine and L-652, 731 on experimental aggregation of polymorphonuclear leukocytes induced by complement and platelet activating factor (PAF)]. *Rev Esp Fisiol* 1988;44: 407-412.

195. Romero R, Duffy TP. Platelet disorders in pregnancy. *Clin Perinatol* 1980;7: 327-348.

196. Ros HS, Cnattingius S, Lipworth L. Comparison of risk factors for preeclampsia and gestational hypertension in a population-based cohort study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1998;147: 1062-1070.

197. Rotchell YE, Cruickshank JK, Gay MP, Griffiths J, Stewart A, Farrell B, Ayers S, Hennis A, Grant A, Duley L *et al.* Barbados Low Dose Aspirin Study in Pregnancy (BLASP): a randomised trial for the prevention of pre-eclampsia and its complications. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1998;105: 286-292.

198. Sargent IL, Borzychowski AM, Redman CW. Immunoregulation in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: an overview. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2006;13: 680-686.

199. Seidler AL, Askie L, Ray JG. Optimal aspirin dosing for pre-eclampsia prevention. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2018, DOI 10.1016/j.ajog.2018.03.018.

200. Sheppard BL, Bonnar J. An ultrastructural study of utero-placental spiral arteries in hypertensive and normotensive pregnancy and fetal growth retardation. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1981;88: 695-705.

201. Shevell T, Malone FD, Vidaver J, Porter TF, Luthy DA, Comstock CH, Hankins GD, Eddleman K, Dolan S, Dugoff L *et al.* Assisted reproductive technology and pregnancy outcome. *Obstet Gynecol* 2005;106: 1039-1045.

202. Shmueli A, Meiri H, Gonen R. Economic assessment of screening for pre-eclampsia. *Prenat Diagn* 2012;32: 29-38.

203. Sibai BM, el-Nazer A, Gonzalez-Ruiz A. Severe preeclampsia-eclampsia in young primigravid women: subsequent pregnancy outcome and remote prognosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1986;155: 1011-1016.

204. Sibai BM, Ewell M, Levine RJ, Klebanoff MA, Esterlitz J, Catalano PM, Goldenberg RL, Joffe G. Risk factors associated with preeclampsia in healthy nulliparous women. The Calcium for Preeclampsia Prevention (CPEP) Study Group. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1997;177: 1003-1010.

205. Simeone S, Serena C, Rambaldi MP, Marchi L, Mello G, Mecacci F. Risk of preeclampsia and obstetric outcome in donor oocyte and autologous in vitro fertilization pregnancies. *Minerva Ginecol* 2016;68: 9-14.

206. Simpson SH, Eurich DT, Majumdar SR, Padwal RS, Tsuyuki RT, Varney J, Johnson JA. A meta-analysis of the association between adherence to drug therapy and mortality. *BMJ* 2006;333: 15.

207. Skjaerven R, Wilcox AJ, Lie RT. The interval between pregnancies and the risk of preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med* 2002;346: 33-38.

208. Sletnes KE, Wisloff F, Moe N, Dale PO. Antiphospholipid antibodies in pre-eclamptic women: relation to growth retardation and neonatal outcome. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1992;71: 112-117.

209. Smith GC, Stenhouse EJ, Crossley JA, Aitken DA, Cameron AD, Connor JM. Early pregnancy levels of pregnancy-associated plasma protein a and the risk of intrauterine growth restriction, premature birth, preeclampsia, and stillbirth. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2002;87: 1762-1767.

210. Spencer K, Souter V, Tul N, Snijders R, Nicolaides KH. A screening program for trisomy 21 at 10-14 weeks using fetal nuchal translucency, maternal serum free beta-human chorionic gonadotropin and pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 1999;13: 231-237.

211. Spencer K, Yu CK, Cowans NJ, Otigbah C, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of pregnancy complications by first-trimester maternal serum PAPP-A and free beta-hCG and with second-trimester uterine artery Doppler. *Prenat Diagn* 2005;25: 949-953.

212. Spencer K, Yu CK, Savvidou M, Papageorghiou AT, Nicolaides KH. Prediction of preeclampsia by uterine artery Doppler ultrasonography and maternal serum pregnancyassociated plasma protein-A, free beta-human chorionic gonadotropin, activin A and inhibin A at 22 + 0 to 24 + 6 weeks' gestation. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2006;27: 658-663.

213. Stamilio DM, Sehdev HM, Morgan MA, Propert K, Macones GA. Can antenatal clinical and biochemical markers predict the development of severe preeclampsia? *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2000;182: 589-594.

214. Stepan H, Kramer T, Faber R. Maternal plasma concentrations of soluble endoglin in pregnancies with intrauterine growth restriction. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2007a;92: 2831-2834.

215. Stepan H, Unversucht A, Wessel N, Faber R. Predictive value of maternal angiogenic factors in second trimester pregnancies with abnormal uterine perfusion. *Hypertension* 2007b;49: 818-824.

216. Stevens W, Shih T, Incerti D, Ton TGN, Lee HC, Peneva D, Macones GA, Sibai BM, Jena AB. Short-term costs of preeclampsia to the United States health care system. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;217: 237-248 e216.

217. Subtil D, Goeusse P, Puech F, Lequien P, Biausque S, Breart G, Uzan S, Marquis P, Parmentier D, Churlet A *et al.* Aspirin (100 mg) used for prevention of pre-eclampsia in nulliparous women: the Essai Regional Aspirine Mere-Enfant study (Part 1). *BJOG* 2003;110: 475-484.

218. Syngelaki A, Bredaki FE, Vaikousi E, Maiz N, Nicolaides KH. Body mass index at 11-13 weeks' gestation and pregnancy complications. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2011;30: 250-265.

219. Syngelaki A, Nicolaides KH, Balani J, Hyer S, Akolekar R, Kotecha R, Pastides A, Shehata H. Metformin versus Placebo in Obese Pregnant Women without Diabetes Mellitus. *N Engl J Med* 2016;374: 434-443.

220. Tan MY, Wright D, Syngelaki A, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M, Greco E, Wright A, Maclagan K *et al.* Comparison of diagnostic accuracy of early screening for preeclampsia by NICE guidelines and a method combining maternal factors and biomarkers: results of SPREE. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2018, DOI 10.1002/uog.19039.

221. Tannetta DS, Muttukrishna S, Groome NP, Redman CW, Sargent IL. Endothelial cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells are a potential source of extraplacental activin a in preeclampsia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2003;88: 5995-6001.

222. Tayyar A, Garcia-Tizon Larroca S, Poon LC, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Competing risk model in screening for preeclampsia by mean arterial pressure and uterine artery pulsatility index at 30-33 weeks' gestation. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2014;36: 18-27.

223. The G. B. D. Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, Estep K, Lee A, Marczak L, Mokdad AH, Moradi-Lakeh M *et al.* Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years. *N Engl J Med* 2017;377: 13-27.

224. Tranquilli AL, Dekker G, Magee L, Roberts J, Sibai BM, Steyn W, Zeeman GG, Brown MA. The classification, diagnosis and management of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: A revised statement from the ISSHP. *Pregnancy hypertension* 2014;4: 97-104.

225. Trogstad L, Magnus P, Moffett A, Stoltenberg C. The effect of recurrent miscarriage and infertility on the risk of pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* 2009;116: 108-113.

226. Tsiakkas A, Cazacu R, Wright A, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Maternal serum placental growth factor at 12, 22, 32 and 36 weeks' gestation in screening for pre-eclampsia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2016a;47: 472-477.

227. Tsiakkas A, Duvdevani N, Wright A, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Serum placental growth factor in the three trimesters of pregnancy: effects of maternal characteristics and medical history. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2015;45: 591-598.

228. Tsiakkas A, Saiid Y, Wright A, Wright D, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in screening for preeclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 30-34 weeks' gestation. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2016b;215: 87 e81-87 e17.

229. van Oostwaard MF, Langenveld J, Schuit E, Papatsonis DN, Brown MA, Byaruhanga RN, Bhattacharya S, Campbell DM, Chappell LC, Chiaffarino F *et al.* Recurrence of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: an individual patient data metaanalysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2015;212: 624 e621-617.

230. Verghese L, Alam S, Beski S, Thuraisingham R, Barnes I, MacCallum P. Antenatal screening for pre-eclampsia: evaluation of the NICE and pre-eclampsia community guidelines. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 2012;32: 128-131.

231. Visintin C, Mugglestone MA, Almerie MQ, Nherera LM, James D, Walkinshaw S, Guideline Development G. Management of hypertensive disorders during pregnancy: summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ* 2010;341: c2207.

232. Vittinghoff E, McCulloch CE. Relaxing the rule of ten events per variable in logistic and Cox regression. *Am J Epidemiol* 2007;165: 710-718.

233. Wallenburg HC, Dekker GA, Makovitz JW, Rotmans P. Low-dose aspirin prevents pregnancy-induced hypertension and pre-eclampsia in angiotensin-sensitive primigravidae. *Lancet* 1986;1: 1-3.

234. Walsh SW. Preeclampsia: an imbalance in placental prostacyclin and thromboxane production. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1985;152: 335-340.

235. Wang X, Bai T, Liu S, Pan H, Wang B. Association between thrombophilia gene polymorphisms and preeclampsia: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2014;9: e100789.

236. Werner EF, Hauspurg AK, Rouse DJ. A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Low-Dose Aspirin Prophylaxis for the Prevention of Preeclampsia in the United States. *Obstet Gynecol* 2015;126: 1242-1250.

237. Widmer M, Villar J, Benigni A, Conde-Agudelo A, Karumanchi SA, Lindheimer M. Mapping the theories of preeclampsia and the role of angiogenic factors: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol* 2007;109: 168-180.

238. World Health Organization. The World Health Report 2005 - Make every mother and child count. 2005. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland; 2005.

239. Wright D, Akolekar R, Syngelaki A, Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. A competing risks model in early screening for preeclampsia. *Fetal Diagn Ther* 2012;32: 171-178.

240. Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Vojtassakova D, de Alvarado M, Kapeti E, Rehal A, Pazos A *et al.* Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: influence of compliance on beneficial effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2017;217: 685 e681-685 e685.

241. Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Machuca M, de Alvarado M, Mastrodima S, Tan MY, Shearing S, Persico N *et al.* Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin on length of stay in the neonatal intensive care unit. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2018;218: 612 e611-612 e616.

242. Wright D, Silva M, Papadopoulos S, Wright A, Nicolaides KH. Serum pregnancyassociated plasma protein-A in the three trimesters of pregnancy: effects of maternal characteristics and medical history. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 2015a;46: 42-50.

243. Wright D, Syngelaki A, Akolekar R, Poon LC, Nicolaides KH. Competing risks model in screening for preeclampsia by maternal characteristics and medical history. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2015b;213: 62 e61-10.

244. Wu P, Haththotuwa R, Kwok CS, Babu A, Kotronias RA, Rushton C, Zaman A, Fryer AA, Kadam U, Chew-Graham CA *et al.* Preeclampsia and Future Cardiovascular Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2017;10.

245. Xiao J, Shen F, Xue Q, Chen G, Zeng K, Stone P, Zhao M, Chen Q. Is ethnicity a risk factor for developing preeclampsia? An analysis of the prevalence of preeclampsia in China. *J Hum Hypertens* 2014;28: 694-698.

246. Yaron Y, Heifetz S, Ochshorn Y, Lehavi O, Orr-Urtreger A. Decreased first trimester PAPP-A is a predictor of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Prenat Diagn* 2002;22: 778-782.

247. Zeisler H, Llurba E, Chantraine F, Vatish M, Staff AC, Sennstrom M, Olovsson M, Brennecke SP, Stepan H, Allegranza D *et al.* Predictive Value of the sFlt-1:PIGF Ratio in Women with Suspected Preeclampsia. *N Engl J Med* 2016;374: 13-22.

248. Zeybek YG, Gunel T, Benian A, Aydinli K, Kaleli S. Clinical evaluations of cell-free fetal DNA quantities in pre-eclamptic pregnancies. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* 2013;39: 632-640.

249. Zhong XY, Laivuori H, Livingston JC, Ylikorkala O, Sibai BM, Holzgreve W, Hahn S. Elevation of both maternal and fetal extracellular circulating deoxyribonucleic acid concentrations in the plasma of pregnant women with preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001;184: 414-419.

APPENDIX

A. Aims, studies and articles characteristics

Aim	Study	Articles	Characteristics
			Multicenter European study
1. Prospective validation of predictive algorithms	1. ASPRE study	1.O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Wright A, Akolekar R, Cicero	Funding: Fetal Medicine Foundation, European Union 7 th Framework Programme
	(part 1: validation)	eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;49: 751-755.	Blind allocation process: online (www.sealedenvelope.com)
			Oversight: Comprehensive Clinical Trials Unit (CCTU) – University College London
	1. ASPRE study		Multicenter European study
2. Prospective validation of predictive algorithms		2. O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Alvarado M, Carbone IF, Dutemeyer V, Fiolna M, Frick A <i>et al.</i> Multicenter screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation: comparison with NICE	Funding: Fetal Medicine Foundation, European Union 7 th Framework Programme
		guidelines and ACOG recommendations. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;49: 756-760.	Oversight: Comprehensive Clinical Trials Unit (CCTU) – University College London
	2. Australian screening cohort	3. Al-Amin A, Rolnik DL, Black C, White A, Stolarek C, Brennecke S, da Silva Costa F. Accuracy of second trimester prediction of preterm preeclampsia by three different screening algorithms. Aust N Z, LObstet Gynaecol 2018;58: 192-196	Prospective external validation of second trimester screening and comparison with current guidelines
	5		Funding: none

Aim	Study	Articles	Characteristics
3. Evaluation of the effect of aspirin initiated at 11 to 14 weeks of gestation and at a dose of 150 mg in the prevention of PE (and secondary analyses)	1. ASPRE study (part 2: RCT)	 O'Gorman N, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Study protocol for the randomised controlled trial: combined multimarker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE). <i>BMJ Open</i> 2016;6: e011801. Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LC, O'Gorman N, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M et al. Aspirin versus Placebo in Pregnancies at High Risk for Preterm Preeclampsia. N Engl J Med 2017;377: 613-622. Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LCY, Syngelaki A, O'Gorman N, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M <i>et al.</i> ASPRE trial: performance of screening for preterm pre-eclampsia. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;50: 492-495. Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Tan MY, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Akolekar R, Singh M, Andrade W, Efeturk T, Jani JC <i>et al.</i> ASPRE trial: incidence of preterm pre-eclampsia in patients fulfilling ACOG and NICE criteria according to risk by FMF algorithm. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2018;51: 738-742. Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Vojtassakova D, de Alvarado M, Kapeti E, Rehal A, Pazos A <i>et al.</i> Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: influence of compliance on beneficial effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia. <i>Am J Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;217: 685 e681-685 e685. Poon LC, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Leipold G, Akolekar R, Shearing S, De Stefani L <i>et al.</i> Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia in subgroups of women according to their characteristics and medical and obstetrical history. <i>Am J Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;217: 585 e581-585 e585. Poon LC, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Leipold G, Akolekar R, Shearing S, De Stefani L <i>et al.</i> Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm pre	Multicenter European study Funding: Fetal Medicine Foundation, European Union 7 th Framework Programme Blind allocation process: online by the responsible investigator in each site (www.sealedenvelope.com) Oversight: Comprehensive Clinical Trials Unit (CCTU) – University College London; Trial Steering Committee; Independent Data and Safety Monitoring
4. Investigation of the potential role of cell-free	3. British cell-free DNA study	11. Rolnik DL, O'Gorman N, Fiolna M, van den Boom D, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Maternal plasma cell-free DNA in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. <i>Ultrasound Obstet</i> <i>Gynecol</i> 2015;45: 106-111.	Case control study Funding: Fetal Medicine Foundation, and Sequenom, Inc, San Jose, CA, USA.
prediction of PE.	4. Australian cell- free DNA cohort	12. Rolnik DL, da Silva Costa F, Lee TJ, Schmid M, McLennan AC. Association between fetal fraction on cell-free DNA testing and first trimester markers for pre-eclampsia. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2018, DOI 10.1002/uog.18993.	Retrospective cohort study in Australia Funding: none

B. My contribution for each publication and RDPUB forms

My contribution to the ASPRE study, including the validation of the algorithm, involved overall coordination of data collection, training of staff in all sites prior to commencement, recruitment, randomisation and follow-up of patients at King's College Hospital (London, UK), reporting of adverse events to CCTU-UCL, performing quality assurance of biomarker measurements in all sites, and writing of the manuscript. Although the statistical analysis of the main publication was performed by an independent statistician, I contributed to all secondary analysis of the trial.

In the studies performed in Australia, my contribution included the study design and a significant proportion of data collection, statistical analysis and writing of the manuscripts.

My contribution for each publication is summarised in the following Table.

Deferrerer	Collection	Writing of	Statistical	Study
Kererence	of data	manuscript	analysis	design
O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Wright A, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Jani J <i>et al.</i> Accuracy of competing-risks model in screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;49: 751-755. [†]	50%	50%	10%	50%
O'Gorman N, Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Alvarado M, Carbone IF, Dutemeyer V, Fiolna M, Frick A <i>et al.</i> Multicenter screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation: comparison with NICE guidelines and ACOG recommendations. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;49: 756-760. [†]	50%	50%	10%	50%
Al-Amin A, Rolnik DL, Black C, White A, Stolarek C, Brennecke S, da Silva Costa F. Accuracy of second trimester prediction of preterm preeclampsia by three different screening algorithms. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2018;58: 192-196. §	50%	50%	80%	60%
O'Gorman N, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Study protocol for the randomised controlled trial: combined multimarker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidence-based PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE). <i>BMJ Open</i> 2016;6: e011801. [¶]	50%	50%	-	60%
Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LC, O'Gorman N, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M et al. Aspirin versus Placebo in Pregnancies at High Risk for Preterm Preeclampsia. N Engl J Med 2017;377: 613-622. *	60%	70%	0%	50%
Rolnik DL, Wright D, Poon LCY, Syngelaki A, O'Gorman N, de Paco Matallana C, Akolekar R, Cicero S, Janga D, Singh M <i>et al.</i> ASPRE trial: performance of screening for preterm pre-eclampsia. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;50: 492-495. [†]	60%	70%	30%	60%
Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Tan MY, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Akolekar R, Singh M, Andrade W, Efeturk T, Jani JC <i>et al.</i> ASPRE trial: incidence of preterm pre-eclampsia in patients fulfilling ACOG and NICE criteria according to risk by FMF algorithm. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2018;51: 738-742. [†]	60%	50%	10%	40%
Wright D, Poon LC, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Vojtassakova D, de Alvarado M, Kapeti E, Rehal A, Pazos A <i>et al.</i> Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: influence of compliance on beneficial effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia. <i>Am J Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;217: 685 e681-685 e685.	60%	50%	10%	40%
Poon LC, Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, Delgado JL, Tsokaki T, Leipold G, Akolekar R, Shearing S, De Stefani L <i>et al.</i> Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin in prevention of preterm preeclampsia in subgroups of women according to their characteristics and medical and obstetrical history. <i>Am J Obstet Gynecol</i> 2017;217: 585 e581-585 e585. ¹¹	60%	50%	10%	40%

Reference	Collection	Writing of	Statistical	Study
	of data	manuscript	analysis	design
Wright D, Rolnik DL, Syngelaki A, de Paco Matallana C, Machuca M, de Alvarado M, Mastrodima S, Tan MY,				
Shearing S, Persico N et al. Aspirin for Evidence-Based Preeclampsia Prevention trial: effect of aspirin on	CO 0/	E00/	400/	409/
length of stay in the neonatal intensive care unit. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2018;218: 612 e611-612 e616. 1	60%	50%	10%	40%
Rolnik DL, O'Gorman N, Fiolna M, van den Boom D, Nicolaides KH, Poon LC. Maternal plasma cell-free DNA	70%	80%	20%	50%
in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. <i>Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol</i> 2015;45: 106-111. [†]				•••
Rolnik DL, da Silva Costa F, Lee TJ, Schmid M, McLennan AC. Association between fetal fraction on cell-free				
DNA testing and first trimester markers for pre-eclampsia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2018, DOI	60%	90%	80%	70%
10.1002/uog.18993. [†]				

Scientific Journal	Impact factor for 2017
[†] Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology	5.654
[§] Australian & New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology	1.766
[¶] BMJ Open	2.413
* New England Journal of Medicine	79.258
¹¹ American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	5.732

Graduate School



Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate							
First Name(s):	Daniel		F	Preferred Title	:	Mr.	
Surname:	Lorber	Rolnik					
MMU e-mail address:	DANIE	L.LORBER-ROLNIK@stu.mmu.	ac.uk (Contact Numb	er:	07472803783	
Personal e-mail addres	: daniel.	rolnik2@gmail.com	5	Student ID Nur	nber:	18000337	
2. Title of PhD Pr	oposal					ĺ	
Prediction of Preecla	mpsia an	d prevention with low-dose as	pirin				
Title of Resear	ch Outpu	ıt					
Accuracy of competing risks model in screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11–13 weeks' gestation							
3. Candidate's contribution to the research output							
(State nature and	l approxin	nate percentage contribution of	each aut	hor)			
managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction, methods, results and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and Neil O'Gorman. Approximate percentage of contribution: Neil O'Gorman – 40% Daniel Rolnik – 40% Alan Wright, Ranjit Akolekar, Simona Cicero, Deepa Janga, Jacques Jani, Francisca S. Molina, Catalina de Paco Matallana, Nikos Papantoniou, Nicola Persico, Walter Plasencia, Mandeep Singh – 5% David Wright, Liona Poon, Argyro Syngelaki, Kypros Nicolaides – 15%							
4. Co author(s):							
to the research output	ibution in named in	dicated above is an accurate asse section 3.	essment c	of the contribu	tion by	the candidate	
Name		Signature	Currer	nt e-mail address			
Neil O'Gorman		Neigen	neilmog	gorman@gm	ail.com	<u>1</u>	
Kypros Nicolaides		1. New laide.	kypros(@fetalmedici	ne.com	<u>1</u>	
5. Statement by	Director	of Studies/Advisor					
I confirm that I have re contribution is as indica	ad the abo ited in sec	ve publication and am satisfied t tion 4 above.	hat the e	xtent and natu	ure of tl	he candidate's	
Signature:		Carol Haigh		Date:		01/06/1	
		(Director of Studies/Advisor)					

6. Signature of F	aculty Research Degrees Administrator		
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)		





Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate						
First Name(s):	Dan	iel	Pre	eferred Title:		Mr.
Surname:	Lorb	per Rolnik				
MMU e-mail add	ress: DAN	NEL.LORBER-ROLNIK@stu.mmu.a	ac.uk Co	ntact Numbe	er:	07472803783
Personal e-mail a	ddress: dani	iel.rolnik2@gmail.com	Stu	ident ID Nun	nber:	18000337
2. Title of Pl	nD Proposal					
Prediction of Pr	eeclampsia a	and prevention with low-dose asp	birin			
Title of Re	esearch Out	put				
Multicenter screening for preeclampsia by maternal factors and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation: comparison to NICE guidelines and ACOG recommendations						
3. Candidate's contribution to the research output						
(State nature and approximate percentage contribution of each author)						
managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction, methods, results and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and Neil O'Gorman. Approximate percentage of contribution: Neil O'Gorman – 40% Daniel Rolnik – 40% Mercedes de Alvarado, Ilma F. Carbone, Vivien Dutemeyer, Magdalena Fiolna, Alex Frick, Natalia Karagiotis, Sofia Mastrodima, Catalina de Paco Matallana, George Papaioannou, Andrea Pazos, Walter Plasencia – 5% David Wright, Liona Poon, Argyro Syngelaki, Kypros Nicolaides – 15%						
4. Co authoi	r(s):					
to the research o	contribution utput named i	indicated above is an accurate asses in section 3.	ssment of t	the contribut	tion by	the candidate
Name		Signature	Current e	e-mail address		
Neil O'Gorman		Neigen	neilmogo	rman@gma	ail.com	1
Kypros Nicolaid	es	1. New laide.	kypros@	fetalmedicir	ne.com	<u>1</u>
5. Statemen	t by Directo	or of Studies/Advisor				
I confirm that I ha contribution is as	ave read the a indicated in s	bove publication and am satisfied th ection 4 above.	nat the ext	ent and natu	ire of th	ne candidate's
Signature:		Carol Haigh		Date:		01/06/18
		(Director of Studies/Advisor)				

6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator						
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018			

Signe

Research and Knowledge Exchange





Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate						
First Name(s):	Daniel		Pre	eferred Title:	:	Mr.
Surname:	Lorber	Rolnik				
MMU e-mail addres	s:		Cor	ntact Numbe	er:	07472803783
Personal e-mail addı	ress: daniel.	rolnik2@gmail.com	Stu	dent ID Nur	nber:	
2. Title of PhD	Proposal					
Prediction of Pree	clampsia and	d prevention with low-dose as	spirin			
Title of Rese	earch Outpu	t				
Accuracy of second trimester prediction of preterm preeclampsia by three different screening algorithms						
3. Candidate's contribution to the research output (State nature and approximate percentage contribution of each author)						
The candidate did the statistical analysis and wrote the part of the methods, results and discussion						
Approximate percentage of contribution:						
Ahmed Al-Amin – 40	0%					
Daniel Rolnik – 40%			100/			
Carin Black, Adrieni Eabricio Costa – 10	he White, Car	oline Stolarek, Shaun Brenneck	e – 10%			
4. Co author(s)):					
I confirm that the co to the research outp	ontribution incout named in s	licated above is an accurate asso section 3.	essment of t	he contribu	tion by	the candidate
Name		Signature	Current e	-mail address		
Ahmed Al-Amin		the	ahmed.al	amin@hotr	mail.co	m
Fabricio Costa		(SERTS	fcosta@n	nonashultra	asound	.com.au
5. Statement b	y Director o	of Studies/Advisor				
I confirm that I have	read the above	ve publication and am satisfied	that the exte	ent and natu	ire of th	ne candidate's
contribution is as inc	dicated in sect	ion 4 above.				
Signature:		Carol Haigh		Date:	01/0	6/18
		(Director of Studies/Advisor)				
6. Signature of	Faculty Res	earch Degrees Administrat	or			
Signature:		Chris Wills		Date:	01	/06/2018

(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)		(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)	
--	--	--	--





Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate							
First Name(s):	Daniel			Prefer	red Title:	:	Mr.
Surname:	Lorber	Rolnik					
MMU e-mail address:	DANIE	EL.LORBER-ROLNIK@stu.mmu	.ac.uk	Conta	ct Numbe	er:	07472803783
Personal e-mail addres	s: daniel	.rolnik2@gmail.com		Stude	nt ID Nur	nber:	18000337
2. Title of PhD P	oposal						
Prediction of Preecla	impsia an	d prevention with low-dose as	spirin				
Title of Resea	ch Outpu	ut					
Study protocol for the randomised controlled trial: combined multimarker screening and randomised patient treatment with ASpirin for evidencebased PREeclampsia prevention (ASPRE)							
3. Candidate's contribution to the research output							
(State nature and approximate percentage contribution of each author)							
and discussion together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and N. O'Corman							
Approximate percentage of contribution:							
Neil O'Gorman – 40%	age of co						
Daniel Rolnik – 40%							
David Wright, Kypros	I. Nicolaid	es, Liona Poon – 20%					
4. Co author(s):							
I confirm that the cont to the research output	ribution in named in	dicated above is an accurate ass section 3.	essment	t of the	contribu	tion by	the candidate
Name		Signature	Curi	rent e-ma	ail address		
Neil O'Gorman		shipfun	neilm	ogorma	an@gma	ail.com	1
Liona Poon		Congh	liona.	poon@)cuhk.ec	du.hk	
Kypros Nicolaides		1. Now Caide.	kypro	s@feta	almedici	ne.com	<u>1</u>
5. Statement by	Director	of Studies/Advisor					
I confirm that I have re contribution is as indic	ad the abc ated in sec	ove publication and am satisfied tion 4 above.	that the	extent	and natu	ure of tl	ne candidate's
Signature:		Carol Haigh			Date:	01/0	6/18
		(Director of Studies/Advisor)					
6. Signature of Fa	6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator						

Signature:	Chris Wills		01/06/2018
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)		





Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate									
First Name(s):		Daniel			Preferred Title: Mr.				
Surname:		Lorber	Rolnik						
MMU e-mail add	lress:	DANIE	L.LORBER-ROLNIK@)stu.mmu.ad	mu.ac.uk Contact Number: 074728037				
Personal e-mail a	address:	daniel.	rolnik2@gmail.com	olnik2@gmail.com Student ID Number: 18000337					
2. Title of P	hD Prop	osal							
Prediction of P	reeclamp	osia and	d prevention with low	-dose aspi	rin				
Title of R	esearch	Outpu	t						
Aspirin versus	Placebo	in Preg	nancies at High Risk	for Preteri	m Preeclar	mpsia			
3. Candidat	e's cont	ributio	n to the research o	utput					
(State natu	ure and a	pproxim	ate percentage contri	bution of ea	ach author)				
to the paper wr Nicolaides and Approximate pe Daniel Rolnik – 6 David Wright, Ne Deepa Janga, M Papaioannou, Ki Liona Poon, Kyp	 Interlaged data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Combined to the paper writing introduction, methods, results and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and Liona Poon. Approximate percentage of contribution: Daniel Rolnik – 60% David Wright, Neil O'Gorman, Argyro Syngelaki, Catalina de Paco Matallana, Ranjit Akolekar, Simona Cicero, Deepa Janga, Mandeep Singh, Francisca S Molina, Nicola Persico, Jacques Jani, Walter Plasencia, George Papaioannou, Kinneret Tenenbaum-Gavish, Hamutal Meiri, Sveinbjorn Gizurarson, Kate Maclagan - 10% 								
4. Co autho	r(s):								
I confirm that the to the research c	e contribu output nai	ution inc med in s	licated above is an accusection 3.	urate assess	sment of th	e contribu	tion by	the candidate	
Name			Signature		Current e-r	nail address			
Liona Poon			Congh	<u>(</u>	chiu yee l	iona.poor	n@kcl.	ac.uk	
Kypros Nicolaid	ros Nicolaides / N/cw Give. kypros@fetalmedicine.com						<u>1</u>		
5. Statement by Director of Studies/Advisor									
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.									
Signature:			C	arol Haigh	aigh Date: 01/06/18			6/18	
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)								

6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator						
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018			
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)					





Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate								
First Name(s):	J.	Daniel	Daniel Preferred Title: Mr.					
Surname:	1	Lorber Rolnik						
MMU e-mail addr	ess:	DANIE	L.LORBER-ROLNIK@stu.mmu.	u.ac.uk Contact Number: 0747280378				
Personal e-mail ad	ddress:	daniel.r	olnik2@gmail.com		Student	t ID Number:	18000337	
2. Title of Ph	D Propo	osal						
Prediction of Pre	eeclamp	sia and	prevention with low-dose as	pirin				
Title of Re	esearch	Outpu	t					
ASPRE trial: per	rformanc	ce of so	creening for preterm pre-eclar	npsia				
3. Candidate	's contr	ributio	n to the research output	each a	uthor)			
to the paper writ Approximate pe Daniel Rolnik – 70 David Wright, Lio Simona Cicero, D Plasencia, Georg Kypros Nicolaides	ting intro rcentage 0% na Poon, Deepa Jan e Papaioa s – 20%	ductior e of cor Argyro nga, Ma annou,	n and discussion, together wit htribution: Syngelaki, Neil O'Gorman, Cata indeep Singh, Francisca S Molin Kinneret Tenenbaum-Gavish- 1	n Prof. alina de na, Nico 0%	Kypros Paco Ma la Persic	Nicolaides. atallana, Ranjii co, Jacques Jai	t Akolekar, ni, Walter	
4. Co author	(s):	ار من الم	isstad shave is an ensure to see		f.th	a a tuila uti a a la u	the condidate	
to the research ou	utput nam	ned in s	ection 3.	essmen	t of the c	ontribution by	the candidate	
Name			Signature	Curr	rent e-mail	address		
Kypros Nicolaide	es		1. New Carde.	kypro	s@fetal	medicine.com	<u>1</u>	
5. Statement by Director of Studies/Advisor								
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.								
Signature:	Carol Haigh Date: 01/06/18					01/06/18		
(Director of Studies/Advisor)								
6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator								

Signature:	Chris Wills		01/06/2018
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)		



Graduate School

Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

This form is to accompany an application for registration for PhD where the PhD is by Published Work. A separate form should be completed for <u>each</u> publication that is submitted with the proposal and should accompany the RD1 form.

1. The Candi	idate						
First Name(s):	Danie	Preferred Title: Mr.					
Surname:	Lorbe	Rolnik					
MMU e-mail addr	ess:		Contact Number: 07472803				
Personal e-mail a	ddress: danie	l.rolnik2@gmail.com	Stude	ent ID Nur	nber:		
2. Title of Ph	D Proposal						
Prediction of Pr	eeclampsia ai	nd prevention with low-dose as	pirin				
Title of Re	search Outp	ut					
ASPRE trial: incid the FMF algorithm	dence of preter	n preeclampsia in patients fulfilling	ACOG and N	ICE criter	ia accoi	rding to risk by	
3. Candidate	e's contributi	on to the research output					
(State natu	re and approxi	mate percentage contribution of	each author)				
managed data f to the paper wri Approximate pe Liona Poon – 409 Daniel Rolnik – 4 Other Co-Authors Kypros Nicolaide	managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and Liona Poon. Approximate percentage of contribution: Liona Poon – 40% Daniel Rolnik – 40% Other Co-Authors – 5% Kypros Nicolaides – 15%						
4. Co author	(s):						
I confirm that the to the research or	contribution in utput named in	dicated above is an accurate asse section 3.	essment of the	e contribu	tion by	the candidate	
Name		Signature	Current e-m	ail address			
Liona Poon		lengh.	liona.poon@	@cuhk.ec	<u>lu.hk</u>		
Kypros Nicolaides / Mewbile kypros@fetalmedicine.com					<u>1</u>		
5. Statement by Director of Studies/Advisor							
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.							
Signature:	Carol	Haigh Date: 01/06/18)6/18	
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)						

RDPUB, version 1.0, 22/08/2014

6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator						
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018			
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)					

RDPUB, version 1.0, 22/08/2014



Graduate School

Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate							
First Name(s):	Daniel	Pro	eferred Title:	:	Mr.		
Surname:	Lorber Rolnik	er Rolnik					
MMU e-mail address:	DANIEL.LORBER-ROLNIK@stu.mmu	.ac.uk Co	ontact Numbe	er:	07472803783		
Personal e-mail address:	daniel.rolnik2@gmail.com	Stu	udent ID Nun	nber:	18000337		
2. Title of PhD Prop	oosal			de la companya de la			
Prediction of Preeclam	psia and prevention with low-dose as	pirin					
Title of Research	Output						
ASPRE trial: influence preeclampsia	of adherence on beneficial effect of a	spirin in pr	revention of	preter	m		
3. Candidate's cont	ribution to the research output						
(State nature and a	pproximate percentage contribution of	each autho	or)				
The candidate recruited patients in the UK sites, participated in the data collection, received and managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and D. Wright. Approximate percentage of contribution: David Wright – 40% Daniel Rolnik – 40% Liona Poon, Argyro Syngelaki, Juan Luis Delgado, Denisa Vojtassakova, Mercedes de Alvarado, Evgenia Kapeti, Anoop Rehal, Andrea Pazos, Ilma Floriana Carbone, Vivien Dutemeyer, Walter Plasencia, Nikos Papantoniou– 5% Kypros Nicolaides – 15%							
I confirm that the contrib to the research output na	ution indicated above is an accurate assomed in section 3.	essment of	the contribu	tion by	the candidate		
Name	Signature	Current	e-mail address				
David Wright	David EWight	D.Wright	t@exeter.ac	.uk			
Kypros Nicolaides	Vicolaides / N/cw laide. kypros@fetalmedicine.com						
5. Statement by Director of Studies/Advisor							
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.							
Signature:	Carol Haigh	Carol Haigh			01/06/18		
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)	(Director of Studies/Advisor)					
6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator							
--	--	-------	------------	--	--	--	
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018				
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)						

RDPUB, version 1.0, 22/08/2014



Graduate School

Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Cand	idate						
First Name(s):	Daniel		Prefe	rred Title:	l)	Mr.	
Surname:	Lorber	Rolnik					
MMU e-mail add	ress:		Conta	act Numbe	er:	07472803783	
Personal e-mail a	ddress: daniel.	rolnik2@gmail.com	Stude	ent ID Nun	nber:		
2. Title of P	hD Proposal						
Prediction of P	reeclampsia an	d prevention with low-dose as	pirin				
Title of R	esearch Outpu	ıt					
ASPRE trial: ef hypertension	fect of aspirin ir	n prevention of preterm preecla	ampsia in wo	men with	n chron	iic	
3. Candidat	e's contributio	on to the research output					
(State natu	ire and approxin	nate percentage contribution of	each author)				
managed data to the paper wr Approximate pe Liona Poon – 40 Daniel Rolnik – 4 David Wright, Ar Shearing, Luciar Vanegas, Nicola Kypros Nicolaide	 managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the data conocion, rocorved and managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and Liona Poon. Approximate percentage of contribution: Liona Poon – 40% Daniel Rolnik – 40% David Wright, Argyro Syngelaki, Juan Luis Delgado, Theodora Tsokaki, Gergo Leipold, Ranjit Akolekar, Siobhan Shearing, Luciana De Stefani, Jacques Jani, Walter Plasencia, Nikolaos Evangelinakis, Otilia Gonzalez-Vanegas, Nicola Persico – 5% Kypros Nicolaides – 15% 						
4. Co autho	r(s):						
to the research o	e contribution in output named in	dicated above is an accurate asse section 3.	essment of the	contribut	tion by	the candidate	
Name		Signature	Current e-m	ail address			
Liona Poon		Congh	liona.poon@	Dcuhk.ed	<u>lu.hk</u>		
Kypros Nicolaio	Kypros Nicolaides / New Bide. kypros@fetalmedicine.com						
5. Statement by Director of Studies/Advisor							
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.							
Signature:		Carol Haigh Date: 01/06/18					
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)						

6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator							
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018				
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)						



Graduate School

Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate								
First Name(s):	Daniel			Preferred Title:		Mr.		
Surname:	Lorber	Rolnik						
MMU e-mail address:	DANIE	L.LORBER-ROLNIK@stu.mmu.	nu.ac.uk Contact Number: 07472803					
Personal e-mail address:	daniel.	.rolnik2@gmail.com Student ID Number: 18000337						
2. Title of PhD Prop	oosal							
Prediction of Preeclam	psia and	d prevention with low-dose as	pirin					
Title of Research	Outpu	t						
ASPRE trial: effect of asp	oirin on le	ength of stay in the neonatal inte	nsive c	are unit				
3. Candidate's cont (State nature and a	tributio pproxim	n to the research output ate percentage contribution of	each a	uthor)				
managed data from all sites on a weekly basis and participated in the statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction and discussion, together with Prof. David Wright and Prof. Kypros Nicolaides. Approximate percentage of contribution: Daniel Rolnik – 40% David Wright, Kypros H. Nicolaides – 50% Other co-authors - 10%								
4. Co author(s):								
I confirm that the contribution to the research output na	ution ind imed in s	licated above is an accurate asse ection 3.	essment	of the contribut	ion by	the candidate		
Name		Signature	Curr	ent e-mail address				
David Wright		David EWright	david	.wright@plymou	uth.ac	.uk		
Kypros Nicolaides		1. New Carde.	kypro	s@fetalmedicin	e.com	<u>1</u>		
5. Statement by Di	rector o	of Studies/Advisor						
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.								
Signature:	ature: Carol Haigh Date: 01/06/18			01/06/18				
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)							
6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator								
Signature:		Chris Wills		Date:		01/06/2018		

(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)	
--	--



Graduate School

Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Candidate								
First Name(s):	Daniel		Pre	eferred Title	:	Mr.		
Surname:	Lorber	Rolnik						
MMU e-mail address:			Co	ntact Numb	er:	07472803783		
Personal e-mail address	ss: daniel.rolnik2@gmail.com Student ID Number:							
2. Title of PhD Pr	oposal							
Prediction of Preecla	mpsia an	d prevention with low-dose as	pirin					
Title of Resear	ւ <mark>ի Outp</mark> ւ	ıt						
Maternal plasma cell	free DNA	in the prediction of preeclam	psia					
3. Candidate's co	ntributio	on to the research output						
(State nature and	approxin	nate percentage contribution of	each autho	or)	-			
statistical analysis. Contributed to the paper writing introduction, results and discussion, together with Prof. Kypros Nicolaides and Liona Poon Approximate percentage of contribution: Daniel Rolnik – 60% Neil O'Gorman, Magdalena Fiolna, Dirk van den Boom – 10% Kypros Nicolaides – 15%								
4. Co author(s):								
I confirm that the contr to the research output	ibution in named in	dicated above is an accurate asse section 3.	essment of t	the contribu	tion by	the candidate		
Name		Signature	Current e	e-mail address				
Kypros Nicolaides		1. New Caide.	kypros@	fetalmedici	ne.com	1		
Liona Poon	iona Poon Leargh liona.poon@cuhk.edu.hk							
5. Statement by I	Director	of Studies/Advisor						
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.								
Signature:		Carol Haigh		Date:	01/0	06/18		
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)							
6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator								
Signature:		Chris Wills		Date:	0	1/06/2018		

(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)	
--	--





Form RDPUB (ROUTE 1 AND 2)

PhD BY PUBLISHED WORK (ROUTE 1/2): CONTRIBUTION TO PUBLICATIONS

1. The Canc	lidate							
First Name(s):	1	Daniel		1	Preferred Title	:	Mr.	
Surname:	1	Lorber R	er Rolnik					
MMU e-mail add	dress:				Contact Numb	er:	07472803783	
Personal e-mail a	address:	daniel.ro	Inik2@gmail.com		Student ID Nur	nber:		
2. Title of P	hD Propo	osal						
Prediction of P	reeclamps	sia and	prevention with low-dose as	spirin				
Title of R	esearch (Output						
Association be	etween fet	tal fractio	on on cell-free DNA testing	and first	trimester mar	kers fo	r pre-	
3. Candidat	e's contri	ibution	to the research output					
(State nati	ure and ap	proxima	te percentage contribution o	f each aut	hor)			
Approximate p Daniel Rolnik – Other Co-Author Andrew McLenn	The candidate has analysed the data and written the manuscript Approximate percentage of contribution: Daniel Rolnik – 70% Other Co-Authors – 5% Andrew McLennan – 25%							
4. Co autho	or(s):							
I confirm that the to the research of the test of	e contribut output nam	tion indio ned in se	cated above is an accurate ass ction 3.	essment o	of the contribu	tion by	the candidate	
Name			Signature	Curre	nt e-mail address			
Fabricio Costa	Fabricio Costa FCosta@monashultrasound.com.au					id.com.au		
Andrew McLen	Andrew McLennan AmcLennan@sufw.com.au					<u>I</u>		
5. Statement by Director of Studies/Advisor								
I confirm that I have read the above publication and am satisfied that the extent and nature of the candidate's contribution is as indicated in section 4 above.								
Signature:		Carol Haigh Date: 01/06/18					1/06/18	
	(Director of Studies/Advisor)							

RDPUB, version 1.0, 22/08/2014

6. Signature of Faculty Research Degrees Administrator							
Signature:	Chris Wills	Date:	01/06/2018				
	(Faculty Research Degrees Administrator)						

RDPUB, version 1.0, 22/08/2014